Mr S Hearse
Chief Executive
Torridge District Council
Riverbank House
Bideford
Devon
EX39 2QG
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700
Date:

1 June 2022

FULL COUNCIL MEETING
On:

Monday 13 June 2022

At:

Venue:

Caddsdown Business Support Centre, Clovelly Road, Bideford - Bideford

6.30 pm

From the 7 May 2021, the law requires all councils to hold formal meetings in person. The Council is
also required to follow Government guidance and ensure that all venues used are Covid secure and
that all appropriate measures are put in place. Members of the public will be able to attend the
meeting in person if they are registered to speak under public participation. Any members of the
public who want to view the meeting will be able to watch through the Councils YouTube Channel
https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube

NOTICE OF MEETING
You are hereby summoned to the Meeting of the District Council at the aforementioned date and time

Chief Executive

To:

Councillor D Bushby (Chair)
Councillor P Christie (Vice-Chair)
Councillors: R Boughton, D Brenton, C Bright, M Brown, R Clarke, C CottleHunkin, R Craigie, A Dart, L Ford, J Gubb, P Hackett, P Hames, S Harding,
C Hawkins, K Hepple, R Hicks, C Hodson, D Hurley, J Hutchings, T Inch,
K James, D Jones, S Langford, N Laws, C Leather, R Lock, J Manley,
D McGeough, J McKenzie, S Newton, P Pennington, P Watson, R Wiseman
and C Woodhouse

Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the meeting

AGENDA
PART I - (OPEN SESSION)
1.

Apologies For Absence
To receive apologies for absence from the meeting

2.

Council Minutes (Pages 4 - 26)
Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting of the Council held on 11th April 2022 and
the AGM on 16th May 2022.

3.

Action List (Page 27)

4.

Public Contributions
15-minute period for public contributions. The deadline for registering to speak is by
2pm Thursday 9 June 2022. To register please email dem.services@torridge.gov.uk

5.

Declarations of interest
Members with interests to declare should refer to the Agenda item and describe the
nature of their interest when the item is being discussed.

6.

Agreement of Agenda Items Part I and II

7.

To consider correspondence or other business especially brought forward by
the direction of the Chair

8.

To answer questions submitted under Procedural Rule A9

9.

Petitions
To receive petitions (if any)

10. Levelling Up fund submission for Torridge (Pages 28 - 41)
To receive the report of the Head of Communities & Place
11. Carbon, Environment and Biodiversity Plan for Torridge - 2022 Update (Pages
42 - 96)
To receive the report of the Public Health & Housing Manager.
12. Notices of Motion
(a)

Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Christie
That TDC, following on from the presentation made at the last Full council meeting,
do support the extension of the railway line from Barnstaple to Bideford and that this
aspiration is embedded in the new Joint Local Plan.

(b)

Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Hames
This Council is very concerned that the Minor Injuries Unit at Bideford Hospital has
been closed for about two years. As it was promised that the Unit would be re-opened
I propose that this Council writes to the NHS expressing its concern and asking when
re-opening will take place.

13. Exclusion of Public
The Chair to move:
“That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local
Government Act 1972”
14. PART II - (CLOSED SESSION)
Items which may be taken in the absence of the public and press on the grounds that
exempt information may be disclosed.
Meeting Organiser: Democratic Services

Agenda Item 2
1

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL
FULL COUNCIL MEETING
Caddsdown Business Support Centre - Bideford
Monday, 11 April 2022 - 6.30 pm
PRESENT

Councillor D Bushby (Chair)
Councillor P Christie (Vice-Chair)
Councillors R Boughton, D Brenton, M Brown, R Clarke,
R Craigie, A Dart, J Gubb, P Hames, S Harding, R Hicks,
C Hodson, D Hurley, T Inch, K James, D Jones, S Langford,
N Laws, C Leather, R Lock, J Manley, D McGeough, J McKenzie,
S Newton, R Wiseman and C Woodhouse

ALSO PRESENT

S Dorey
S Kearney
D Heyes
J Williams
T Vanstone
S Cawsey

- Head of Legal & Governance (Monitoring
Officer)
- Head of Communities & Place
- Finance Manager (Section 151 Officer)
- Public Health & Housing Manager
- Senior Electoral & Democratic Services
Officer
- Democratic Services Officer

Mr L Bach – Independent Member

313.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors P Pennington,
K Hepple, C Bright, C Hawkins, P Watson, P Hackett, J Hutchings and
C Cottle-Hunkin.

314.

COUNCIL MINUTES
It was proposed by Councillor Newton, seconded by Councillor Manley and Resolved: That the minutes of the meeting held on 31 January 2022 be confirmed
as a correct record.
(Vote: For 26, Abstentions 1)
It was proposed by Councillor Jones, seconded by Councillor Manley and –
Resolved: That the minutes of the Budget Special meeting held on 21 February
2022 be confirmed as a correct record.
(Vote: For 24, Abstentions 3)

Page 4

2

315.

PUBLIC CONTRIBUTIONS
Josie Holt, Nicholas Radford and Bideford Town Councillor Kaye Corfe addressed
the meeting speaking in support of Councillor Craigie‟s Notice of Motion.
Josie Holt said she attended the meeting as a member of Bideford Empty Homes
Working Group and had joined the Group because of concerns she had with the
housing crisis. She gave details of what other areas had been doing to address the
issue of empty homes and referred to the detrimental effect that empty homes have
on neighbours and on people‟s mental health.
Nicholas Radford mentioned the number and income the Council receives from
properties paying long term council tax. Each empty home becomes a worsening
issue for the community environment. He urged the Council to create an empty
homes officer position to track empty homes and for the Council to listen to
residents.
Bideford Town Councillor Kaye Corfe addressed the meeting giving details of her
experiences and her employment with Encompass. The issue of homelessness
cannot be fixed by one action, it requires a multi-faceted approach. She highlighted
the need to look forward, to work together and to refuse to let the housing crisis
continue to case damage.

316.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Members were reminded that declarations of interest should be made as and when
the specific agenda item to which they related was under discussion.

317.

AGREEMENT OF AGENDA ITEMS PART I AND II
It was proposed by Councillor Hodson, seconded by Councillor Clarke and –
Resolved: That the Agenda as circulated by agreed.
(Vote: For – Unanimous)

318.

TO CONSIDER CORRESPONDENCE OR OTHER BUSINESS ESPECIALLY
BROUGHT FORWARD BY THE DIRECTION OF THE CHAIR
There were no matters brought forward.

319.

TO ANSWER QUESTIONS SUBMITTED UNDER PROCEDURAL RULE A9
Questions had been submitted by Councillor Bright, Councillor Ford and two from
Councillor Hawkins under Procedural Rule A9.
In accordance with the Constitution a written answer to Councillor Bright and to one
of Councillor Hawkins questions had been circulated to Members.

Page 5

3

The second question from Councillor Hawkins had been rejected as it does not
meet the requirements of Torridge District Council‟s Constitution to be heard. As
Councillor Hawkins had given his apologies for the meeting the Head of Legal &
Governance will convey the reasons for rejecting the question directly to him.
Councillor Ford‟s question had also been rejected as he had been advised on
numerous occasions that the Councill had concluded all matters relating to the
Standards Hearing and the 101 form and will, therefore, not respond further on this
subject. If Councillor Ford wishes to pursue it will be a matter to be discussed and
take legal advice, not for Full Council.
Question from Councillor Bright
Can members be given a verbal update on progress with transferring Jubilee Wood
from TDC to Great Torrington Town Council. And can you clarify the position with
regards to the proposed path?
Answer
The legal documents required to complete the transfer have been sent to Great
Torrington Town Council and we await their response and or comments.
The footpath had been shown as a linkage from an adjacent housing development
toward the town. However, the developer has advised that this is no longer
required.
Steve Hearse – Chief Executive
Question from Councillor Hawkins
Under current legislation would it be possible for a neighbouring Authority to
oversee a Standards Hearing of another Authority.
Answer
The Localism Act 2011 states
Councils have a Duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct
Section 27 places a duty on a relevant authority to ensure that its members and coopted members maintain high standards of conduct and requires such authorities to
adopt a code of conduct for their members.
Section 28 requires a relevant authority to adopt a code whose contents must be
consistent with the seven „Nolan‟ principles of standards in public life (selflessness,
integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership), and must
set out the rules that the authority wants to put in place with regard to requiring
members to register and disclose pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests. It requires
an authority to put in place arrangements under which it can investigate an

Page 6

4

allegation of a breach of a code made in writing and, if it is considered that an
investigation is warranted, requires the authority to appoint at least one
independent person whose views must be sought after it has made an investigation
and before it takes a decision. It allows members who have had an allegation made
against them to seek the views of the independent person if they wish.
Full Council delegates these arrangements to our own Standards Committee who
have the following roles and functions:1. Promote and maintain high standards of conduct by the Members and coopted Members of the Council;
2. Assist Members and Co-Opted Members of the Council to observe the
Members‟ Code of Conduct;
3. Advise Full Council on the adoption or revision of the Members‟ Code of
Conduct;
4. Monitor the Members Code of Conduct;
5. Advise, train or arrange training for Members and Co-Opted Members on
matters relating to the Members‟ Code of Conduct;
6. Grant dispensations to District Council Members and Co-Opted Members
from the requirements relating to interests set out I the Members Code of
Conduct;
7. Deal with any reports relating to Member complaints received by The Head
of Legal and Governance and Monitoring Officer;
8. Provide the same functions in relation to Parish Councils as in relation to
Torridge District Council and Members of Torridge District Council
Therefore, the arrangements that TDC have in place adequately cover the
requirements of the Localism Act 2011
320.

PETITIONS
There were no petitions.

321.

PRESENTATION FROM BIDEFORD RAILWAY HERITAGE CENTRE
The Chair introduced Mr Tim Steer, Director of Bideford Railway Heritage Centre,
to the meeting.
Mr Steer had attended to give a presentation to Members on why Bideford now
needs to have its railway service restored. The informative slides detailed the
following:






History – the scheduled passenger service finished in 1965.
Positive reasons as to why the services should be restored
Devon County Council‟s Bideford to Barnstaple railway safeguarding – in
1999 a team carried out a feasibility study (the Maunsell Report).
A map showing the main line rail link from Barnstaple to Bideford
Stations and approx. populations and station usage 2019-2020 on the Tarka
line

Page 7

5




Why Bideford?
The need for Bideford re-joining the national network to be added to the new
ND and Torridge Local Plan.

The next steps to be taken are:







Form a Bideford Town Council ACE Rail Committee
Include Torridge and ND Councils
Ask DCC and Peninsula Transport for support
Include Network Rail and GWR in meetings
To part fund an independent specialist adviser to prepare a Prospectus for
ACE Rail as a basis for an initial business case
Railfuture may also part-fund

A question and answer session followed during which Members thanked Mr Steer
for an informative and interesting presentation.
322.

PRESENTATION FROM NORTH DEVON BIOSPHERE
Mr Andy Bell from the North Devon Biosphere gave a slide presentation on the
Ecological Crisis in Torridge and North Devon.
The information provided on the slides included the following:
Our Biosphere –
3 special qualities:

3 core functions:

Biodiversity and landscape
Communities who have taken sustainable steps
Economy and culture still strongly linked to environment
Conservation
Research and Education
Sustainable Development

Final Report of the North Devon Marine Natural Capital Plan (June 2020)
Charts showing reasons as to why there is a decline of  woodland specialist birds
 Rough grasslands/scrub specialist birds
 Bees (moss, brown banded carder bees)
Nature Recovery Plan – Vision for nature by 2030 –
“By 2030, nature is recovering across northern Devon. There is more wildlife-rich
habitat for us all to enjoy - covering 30% of the land area – in our fields and woods,
on the moors and coast, along our rivers and across the sea. Wildlife has the space
it needs to flourish. Thriving farming, fishing and forestry are helping nature to
recover right across the Biosphere area. Communities, councils and businesses are
putting nature back into our towns and villages. Declining species like salmon,
hedgehog, cuckoo, skylark, lapwing, swift and house martin are recovering – and
once again there are myriads of wildflowers and insects to enjoy in the countryside

Page 8

6

and marine wildlife is thriving. Ambitious projects have helped bring back icons like
beaver, pine marten, chough, white-tailed eagle and osprey. Our quality of life, the
economy and our response to climate change are stronger for it. More is required,
but we are proud to be playing our part in tackling the global ecological
emergency”.
Delivery mechanisms  Planning Policy e.g. Net Gain, Building with Nature Standards,
 Improved public realm
 Community Campaigns
 Biosphere Projects e.g. Devon Woods, Natural Solutions
 Agri Environment schemes
 Private Investment
Summary –
 We are still losing biodiversity
 It takes partnership and good planning to resolve it.
 TDC has a more important role to play thanks to the Environment Act
 Planning and proper use of Biodiversity Net Gain
 Leadership by the authority in showing the way in public spaces
 Working in partnership is critical
A question and answer session followed.
be circulated to Members.

It was agreed that the slide presentation

The Chair, on behalf of Members, thanked Andy Bell for an interesting and
informative presentation.
323.

MEMBER BUDGET OPTIONS WORKING GROUP
The purpose of the report, presented by Councillor James, Leader, was for Full
Council to approve membership to a Budget Working Group to report to Community
& Resources Committees, options for building resilience into the Council‟s medium
term Financial Strategy.
It was proposed by Councillor Newton, seconded by Councillor Inch and –
Resolved:
That a Budget Working Group be established, made up of a total of 6 Members and to
comprise:







The Leader of the Council
The Lead Member for Finance & Audit – Cllr Hodson
Cllr Brenton
Cllr Bright
Cllr Christie
Cllr Lock

Page 9

7
In the event for any reason a Member is no longer part of the working group, the
Leader of the Council be delegated to appoint a replacement.
(Vote: For – Unanimous) - two Members out of the room

324.

GYM EQUIPMENT/MOBILISATION COSTS - ACTIVE TORRIDGE
The Finance Manager & S151 Officer presented the report, the purpose of which
was to seek Member approval to add the acquisition and installation of gym
equipment at Torridge Leisure Centre to the 2021/22 capital programme, and to
carry forward the balance on the leisure mobilisation budget.
It was proposed by Councillor James, seconded by Councillor Manley and –
Resolved:


That the sum of £111,040 be added to the Council‟s capital programme
funded from the implementation budget of £250k.



That the unspent balance on the mobilisation budget at the end of the
financial year 2021/22 be set aside into reserve to be utilised as outlined in
the report post April 2022.

(Vote: For – Unanimously)
325.

DOG PSPO
The Public Health & Housing Manager presented the report, the purpose of which
was to seek designated dog control Public Spaces Protection Orders for defined
locations across Torridge under Section 59 of the Antisocial Behaviour, Crime and
Policing Act 2014.
During the discussion Members emphasised the need for more enforcement action
to be taken on those individuals or groups who commit antisocial behaviour or
nuisance in a public space, and are contravening the provisions of the PSPO.
It was proposed by Councillor Bushby, seconded by Councillor Manley and –
Resolved:
That the Public Space Protection Order for dog Control under Section 59 of the
Antisocial Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 be approved.
(Vote: For – Unanimous)

326.

ARMED FORCES COVENANT
The Lead Member for Housing and Armed Forces Lead presented the report of the
Public Health and Housing Manager, the purpose of which was for:

Page 10

8




Member approval to the Council‟s recommitment to the Armed Forces
Covenant and signing of the same
Member approval to the development of the commitment through a range of
actions proposed within the report

It was proposed by Councillor Clarke, seconded by Councillor Inch and –
Resolved:


That the Armed Forces Covenant be signed.



That the proposals given in the report for developing the Covenant within
Torridge District and wider Northern Devon areas be noted and approved.

(Vote: For – Unanimous)
327.

NOTICES OF MOTION
There were five Notices of Motion.
(a)

Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Inch
Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Inch
That a DCC Councillor be invited to attend on a rotating basis, each
Full Council to report on their division and to be allocated a slot of 10
minutes.
The Head of Legal & Governance advised Councillor McGeough did
not need to declare an interest because he is a County Councillor.
Councillor Inch presented his Motion. Following a brief discussion,
the Motion was seconded by Councillor Christie.
(Vote: for 11, Against 16)
The Motion was lost.

(b)

Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Hodson
Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Hodson
Council are requested to support the expansion of the qualifying
criteria for applicants to the Member‟s Council Grant funding for
2022/23. The scheme is not prescribed by legislation but is
determined and set in this Council‟s policy.
The current guidance allows for grants to be made for specific
projects.

Page 11

9

With the increasing financial pressures that our community is
experiencing the proposal is that any application for funding from any
non-commercial constituted organisation to deliver goods or services
to alleviate hardship or address health inequalities, becomes eligible
for assistance.
Councillor Hodson presented her Notice of Motion and considered
that to extend the flexibility of the scheme would make better use of
the Grants.
It was proposed by Councillor Hodson, seconded by Councillor
Manley and –
Resolved:

That Councillor Hodson‟s Notice of Motion be agreed.

(Vote: For – Unanimous)

(c)

Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Hodson
Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Hodson
Motion for the Ocean to help this Council play their part in realising
a clean, healthy and productive ocean and all of the direct economic,
health and wellbeing benefits it will bring.
This Council agrees to declare an urgent need for Ocean Recovery
and adopts the Motion for the Ocean by committing to:1. Review within twelve months the actions and projects that
have been undertaken to promote ocean recovery for the
coast of Torridge District.
2. Consider Ocean recovery in our strategic decisions, plans,
budgets and approaches to decisions by the Council
(particularly in planning, regeneration, skills and economic
policy),
3. Ensure that the North Devon Biosphere Nature Recovery Plan
strives to support ocean recovery.
4. Work with partners locally to deliver increased sustainability in
marine industries and develop a sustainable and equitable
blue economy that delivers ocean recovery and local
prosperity.
5. Promotes communication through our social media of actions
which are being taken to aid ocean recovery progress,
signpost ocean literacy development opportunities, and marine
citizenship pledges.

Page 12

10

6. Writes to the Government asking them to put the ocean into
net recovery by 2030 endorsing the requests for action listed
in the circulated documentation.
Councillor Hodson presented her Notice of Motion. She proposed
that the Motion be referred to Community & Resources Committee,
not for financial commitment, but for agreement to embed the
principles into operational practices and future coastal education and
decision making.
When discussing the Motion, Councillor Jones raised concerns in
relation to point 6 – lobbying the Government as this is not a lobbying
group. He asked whether Councillor Hodson would consider
amending her Motion to remove that point. Councillor Hodson
explained that the Local Authority Special Interest Group, who are a
national body, had put together the Notice of Motion which has been
adopted and is being promoted within the Group of members.
It was proposed by Councillor Hodson, seconded by Councillor
Christie and –
Resolved:
That the Notice of Motion be referred to Community & Resources
Committee.
(Vote: For – Unanimous)

(d)

Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Ford
Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Ford
It is not compulsory for TDC Members to have DBS checks and in
light of recent convictions of Councillors from other Authorities, I
propose that TDC approach Devon wide Councils in relation to their
DBS Policy and with a view to the possibility of joint working to see if
we could firm up our Policy on DBS checks for Members.
As Councillor Ford was not present at the meeting his Notice of
Motion was not presented.

(e)

Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Craigie
Written Notice of Motion from Councillor Craigie
In recognition of the housing crisis and the market failure to provide
affordable and social housing, TDC should immediately implement an
Empty Homes Policy. It is a dereliction of duty for TDC not to be

Page 13

11

utilising all the powers under the Housing Act 2004, which includes
forced sale, compulsory purchase and Empty Dwelling Management
Orders (EDMOs).
1. Empty Homes Council Tax Premium should be ring fenced to
employ an Empty Homes Officer(s)
2. Community Groups should be enabled to do the refurbishment
and retrofitting of houses under the Empty Dwelling
Management Orders to provide homes for local people.
3. The avoidance of Empty Homes Council Tax premium should
be tackled by properly investigating and recording empty
dwellings around the district
Empty and abandoned buildings are a blight on the area and the local
community and have a significant negative impact on our vital tourism
industry. We as a council must do all within our power to change the
current situation of neglect.
Councillor Craigie presented her Notice of Motion.
Councillor James stated that although he was supportive of the
Motion in principle, he had concerns it would not achieve what is
required. He referred to point 1 and explained that the monies
received from the Empty Homes Council Tax Premium would not be
sufficient to employ an Empty Homes Officer(s).
Councillor James recommended that Councillor Craigie meets with
him to discuss the matter and for the Motion to be deferred.
It was proposed by Councillor Craigie, seconded by Councillor
Langford and –
Resolved:
That the Notice of Motion be deferred for further discussion.
(Vote: For – Unanimous)
328.

EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC
It was proposed, seconded and Resolved:
That under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act (as amended) the public
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business because of the
likely disclosure of exempt information by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 and
Paragraph 10 of Part 2 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.
(Vote: For – Unanimous)

Page 14

12

329.

PART II - (CLOSED SESSION)

330.

TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION
The Public Health & Housing Manager introduced this item and updated Members
on amendments to the recommendations.
Following discussion, it was proposed by Councillor Manley, seconded by
Councillor Clarke and –
Resolved:
That the amended recommendations be approved.
(Vote: For – Unanimous)

It was proposed, seconded and Resolved:
That the press and public be readmitted.
(Vote: For – unanimous)

The meeting commenced at 6.30pm and closed at 8.35pm

Page 15

1

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING MEETING
Caddsdown Business Support Centre - Bideford
Monday, 16 May 2022 - 6.30 pm

PRESENT:

Councillors R Boughton, D Brenton, C Bright, D Bushby,
P Christie, R Clarke, C Cottle-Hunkin, R Craigie, A Dart, L Ford,
J Gubb, P Hackett, P Hames, C Hawkins, K Hepple, R Hicks,
C Hodson, D Hurley, T Inch, K James, D Jones, S Langford,
N Laws, C Leather, R Lock, J Manley, D McGeough, J McKenzie,
S Newton, P Pennington, P Watson and R Wiseman
Non-elected Member Mr Dengate

ALSO PRESENT

S Hearse
S Dorey
S Kearney
D Heyes
T Vanstone
K Brown
S Cawsey

22.

- Chief Executive
- Head of Legal & Governance (Monitoring
Officer)
- Head of Communities & Place
- Finance Manager (Section 151 Officer)
- Senior Electoral & Democratic Services
Officer
- Democratic Services Officer
- Democratic Services Officer

APOLOGIES
Apologies of absence were received from Councillor M Brown and Councillor S
Harding.
Following the meeting, Democratic Services were advised of an email from
Councillor Cottle-Hunkin giving her apologies.

23.

ELECTION OF CHAIR OF THE COUNCIL
The Chief Executive invited nominations for Chair of the Council.
It was proposed by Councillor James, seconded by Councillor Hodson and –
Resolved:
That Councillor Bushby be elected as Chair of the Council.
(Vote: For 31, Against 1)

Page 16

2

Councillor Bushby read out the declaration of acceptance of office, signed the book
and took the Chair.
The Chair expressed his gratitude to all Members.
24.

ELECTION OF VICE CHAIR OF THE COUNCIL
Nominations were invited for Vice Chair of the Council.
It was proposed by Councillor Bushby, seconded by Councillor James and –
Resolved:
That Councillor Christie be elected as Vice Chair of the Council.
(Vote: For -Unanimous)
Councillor Christie read out the declaration of acceptance of office and signed the
book.
The Vice Chair expressed his gratitude to all Members.

25.

PUBLIC CONTRIBUTIONS
There were no Public Contributions.

26.

TO CONSIDER CORRESPONDENCE OR OTHER BUSINESS ESPECIALLY
BROUGHT FORWARD BY THE DIRECTION OF THE CHAIR
No other business was brought forward.

27.

ELECTION OF THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL
Nominations were invited for Leader of the Council.
It was proposed by Councillor Hicks, seconded by Councillor Leather and –
Resolved:
That Councillor James be elected as Leader of the Council.
(Vote: For 31, Against 1)

28.

ELECTION OF DEPUTY LEADER OF THE COUNCIL
Nominations were invited for Deputy Leader of the Council.
It was proposed by Councillor James, seconded by Councillor Watson and –

Page 17

3

Resolved:
That Councillor Hodson be elected as Deputy Leader of the Council.
(Vote: For 31, Abstentions 1)

29.

SIZE OF COMMITTEES AND TERMS OF REFERENCE
The purpose of the report was to confirm the size of Committees and their Terms of
Reference.
Following a query from Councillor Christie regarding the Property & Major Projects
Working Group, he was advised this would be dealt with under item 17.
It was proposed by Councillor Laws, seconded by Councillor McKenzie and –
Resolved:
That the size of Committees as stated in the report and the Terms of Reference as
set out in Appendix 1 be approved.
(Vote: For- Unanimous)
Councillor Ford left at 6.40pm.

30.

ALLOCATION OF SEATS TO POLITICAL GROUPS
The Head of Legal & Governance (Monitoring Officer) presented the report, the
purpose of which was to agree the number of seats on the Committee allocated to
each of the Political Groups.
It was proposed by Councillor Hackett, seconded by Councillor Lock and –
Resolved:
That the number of seats on the Committees allocated to each of the Political
Groups as detailed in the report be approved.
(Vote: For - Unanimous)

31.

MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES
The purpose of this report was for the membership of Committees to be agreed.
The Leader proposed an amendment to the membership of Audit & Governance
Committee, namely that Councillor Hodson replace Councillor Pennington.
It was proposed by Councillor James, seconded by Councillor Pennington and –

Page 18

4

Resolved:
That the size of Committees as stated in the report and the Terms of Reference as
set out in Appendix 1 be approved subject to the above amendment.
(Vote: For - Unanimous)

32.

ELECTION OF CHAIRS AND VICE CHAIRS
Community & Resources Committee
Nominations were invited for the position of the Chair of the Community &
Resources Committee.
It was proposed by Councillor James, seconded by Councillor Bushby that
Councillor Hicks be elected as Chair of the Community & Resources Committee.
It was proposed by Councillor McGeough, seconded by Councillor Craigie that
Councillor Brenton be elected as Chair of the Community & resources Committee.
Resolved:
That Councillor Hicks be elected as Chair of Community & Resources Committee.
(Vote: For 23, Against 3, Abstention 5)

Councillor Hicks received the majority of votes, therefore no vote was taken on the
Motion to elect Councillor Brenton.

Nominations were invited for the position of the Vice Chair of the Community &
Resources Committee.
It was proposed by Councillor Hicks, seconded by Councillor Gubb that Councillor
Dart be elected as Vice Chair of the Community & Resources Committee and Resolved:
That Councillor Dart be elected as the Vice Chair of Community & Resources
Committee.
(Vote: For 30, Abstention 1)
Audit & Governance Committee
Nominations were invited for the position of the Chair of the Audit & Governance
Committee.

Page 19

5

It was proposed by Councillor Dart, seconded by Councillor Watson that Councillor
Hackett be elected as Chair of the Community & resources Committee.
Resolved:
That Councillor Hackett be elected as the Chair of Audit & Governance Committee.
(Vote: For - Unanimous)

Nominations were invited for the position of the Vice Chair of the Audit &
Governance Committee.
It was proposed by Councillor Hackett, seconded by Councillor Brenton that
Councillor Craigie be elected as Vice Chair of the Audit & Governance Committee
and Resolved:
That Councillor Craigie be elected as the Vice Chair of Audit & Governance
Committee.
(Vote: For - Unanimous)

Plans Committee
Nominations were invited for the position of the Chair of the Plans Committee.
It was proposed by Councillor James, seconded by Councillor Manley that
Councillor Leather be elected as Chair of the Plans Committee.
Resolved:
That Councillor Leather be elected as the Chair of the Plans Committee.
(Vote: For 30, Against 1)

Nominations were invited for the position of the Vice Chair of the Plans Committee.
It was proposed by Councillor Boughton, seconded by Councillor Newton that
Councillor Lock be elected as Vice Chair of the Plans Committee and Resolved:
That Councillor Lock be elected as the Vice Chair of the Plans Committee.
(Vote: For 28, Against 3)

Page 20

6

As the Chair of Plans Committee, Councillor Leather expressed his gratitude to
Councillor Brown for all the work she had done over the years as Vice Chair of the
Plans Committee.
Licensing Committee
Nominations were invited for the position of the Chair of the Licensing Committee.
It was proposed by Councillor Hodson, seconded by Councillor Inch that Councillor
McKenzie be elected as the Chair of the Licensing Committee.
It was proposed by Councillor Newton, seconded by Councillor Lock that Councillor
Clarke be elected as the Chair of the Licensing Committee.
Resolved:
That Councillor McKenzie be elected as Chair of Licensing Committee.
(Vote: For 20, Against 9, Abstention 2)
Councillor McKenzie received the majority of votes therefore no vote was taken on
the Motion to elect Councillor Clarke.

Nominations were invited for the position of the Vice Chair of the Licensing
Committee.
It was proposed by Councillor Newton, seconded by Councillor McGeough that
Councillor Clarke be elected as Vice Chair of the Licensing Committee –
(Vote – For 10, Against 20, Abstentions 1)
It was proposed by Councillor McKenzie, seconded by Councillor Dart that
Councillor Wiseman be elected as Vice Chair of the Licensing Committee (Vote – For 21, Against 9, Abstention 1)
Resolved:
That Councillor Wiseman be elected as the Vice Chair of the Licensing Committee.

Internal Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Nominations were invited for the position of the Chair of the Internal Overview &
Scrutiny Committee.

Page 21

7

It was proposed by Councillor Wiseman, seconded by Councillor Bushby that
Councillor Watson be elected as Chair of the Internal Overview & Scrutiny
Committee.
Resolved:
That Councillor Watson be elected as the Chair of the Internal Overview & Scrutiny
Committee.
(Vote: For 29, Abstentions 2)
Nominations were invited for the position of the Vice Chair of the Internal Overview
& Scrutiny Committee.
It was proposed by Councillor Watson, seconded by Councillor Hackett that
Councillor Inch be elected as Vice Chair of the Internal Overview & Scrutiny
Committee and Resolved:
That Councillor Inch be elected as the Vice Chair of the Internal Overview &
Scrutiny Committee.
(Vote: For 27, Against 1, Abstention 3)

External Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Nominations were invited for the position of the Chair of the External Overview &
Scrutiny Committee.
It was proposed by Councillor Leather, seconded by Councillor Hodson that
Councillor Manley be elected as Chair of the External Overview & Scrutiny
Committee and Resolved:
That Councillor Manley be elected as the Chair of the External Overview & Scrutiny
Committee.
(Vote: For - unanimous)
Nominations were invited for the position of the Vice Chair of the External Overview
& Scrutiny Committee.
It was proposed by Councillor Manley, seconded by Councillor Hodson that
Councillor Cottle-Hunkin be elected as Vice Chair of the External Overview &
Scrutiny Committee and Resolved:

Page 22

8

That Councillor Cottle-Hunkin be elected as the Vice Chair of the External Overview
& Scrutiny Committee.
(Vote: For 30, Abstention 1)
Standards Committee
Nominations were invited for the position of the Chair of the Standards Committee.
It was proposed by Councillor James, seconded by Councillor Clarke that
Councillor Laws be elected as Chair of the Standards Committee and Resolved:
That Councillor Laws be elected as the Chair of the Standards Committee.
(Vote: For 30, Abstention 1)
Nominations were invited for the position of the Vice Chair of the Standards
Committee.
It was proposed by Councillor Laws, seconded by Councillor Manley that Councillor
Clarke be elected as Vice Chair of the Standards Committee.
It was proposed by Councillor Christie, seconded by Councillor Langford that
Councillor Brenton be elected as Vice Chair of the Standards Committee.
Resolved:
That Councillor Clarke be elected as the Vice Chair of the Standards Committee.
(Vote – For 24, Against 1, Abstention 6)
Councillor Clarke received the majority of votes, therefore no vote was taken on the
Motion to elect Councillor Brenton.

As Chair of Standards Committee, Councillor Laws expressed his gratitude to
Councillor Gubb for all the work she had carried out as Vice Chair of Standards.

33.

SCHEME OF DELEGATION
The purpose of this report was to approve the Council’s Scheme of Delegation.
Councillor Leather proposed to approve the Scheme of Delegation as set out in
Appendix 1 in the report with two amendments:

Page 23

9

1) that the call-in period for planning applications be extended from 21 days to 28
days;
2) that the Leader of the Council has the same prerogative as the Chief Executive
and Planning Manager to call-in a planning application at any time.
A brief discussion took place where the Head of Legal & Governance (Monitoring
Officer) advised there would be no issue with the amendments.
It was proposed by Councillor Leather, seconded by Councillor Manley and –
Resolved:
That the Scheme of Delegation as set out in Appendix 1 attached to the report be
approved subject to the amendments as stated above.
(Vote: For - Unanimous)

34.

SUBSTITUTION SCHEME
The purpose of the report was to approve the Council’s Substitution Scheme.
It was proposed by Councillor Inch, seconded by Councillor Hackett and Resolved:
That the Substitution Scheme as set out in Appendix 1 attached to the report be
approved.
(Vote: For - Unanimous)

35.

MEMBERSHIP OF OUTSIDE BODIES
The purpose of the report was to agree the Membership of Outside Bodies.
It was proposed by Councillor Manley, seconded by Councillor Clarke that the
Membership of Outside Bodies be agreed.
Following comments that the list was out of date it was proposed by Councillor
Hodson, seconded by Councillor Brenton that the Membership of Outside Bodies
be deferred and delegated to Group Leaders for review.
Councillor Manley and Councillor Clarke retracted their first proposal.
Following a query form Councillor Pennington, Councillor Hodson provided
information on why Westward Housing were no longer on the list. The Chief
Executive advised he meets with Westward Housing on a regular basis and has
also extended invites to other registered housing providers.

Page 24

10

Resolved:
That the Membership of Outside Bodies be deferred and delegated to Group
Leaders for review.
(Vote: For - Unanimous)
36.

LEAD MEMBERS
The purpose of the report was to approve Lead Members.
It was proposed by Councillor Dart, seconded by Councillor Wiseman and Resolved:
That the Lead Members and Lead Member roles be approved.
(Vote: For - Unanimous)

37.

APPOINTMENT OF ACTIVE TORRIDGE BOARD
The purpose of the report was to approve the appointment of one Councillor to the
Leisure Local Authority Trading Company Board.

It was proposed by Councillor Hodson, seconded by Councillor Bushby and Resolved:
That that Councillor Langford be appointed as the nominated Member to serve on
the LATC Board.
(Vote: For - Unanimous)
38.

APPOINTMENT TO PROPERTY & MAJOR PROJECT WORKING GROUP
The purpose of the report was to approve the appointment of one Councillor to the
Property & Major Projects Working Group.
It was proposed by Councillor Watson, seconded by Councillor Laws that Councillor
Leather be the nominated Member to serve on the Property & Major Projects
Working Group.
It was proposed by Councillor Christie, seconded by Councillor Brenton that this
item be referred to the Constitution Working Group for further consideration that
more Members be on the Property & Major Projects Working Group.

Page 25

11

The Chief Executive confirmed that the Constitution Working Group no longer
existed, and that Property & Major Projects Working Group was not a decisionmaking committee and make recommendations to Community & Resources and/or
Full Council for a formal decision. All Members are welcome to attend any Property
& major Projects Working Group meeting.

It was proposed by Councillor Watson, seconded by Councillor Laws and Resolved:
That that Councillor Leather be appointed as the nominated Member to serve on
the Property & Major Projects Working Group.
(Vote: For 28, Abstention 3)

The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm and closed at 7.28 pm

Page 26

Full Council
Action List Following 11 April 2022

Page 27

Minute
No.
322

Action

By Who

To circulate ND Biosphere
slide presentation to All
Councillors

Dem.
Services

327(b)

Cllr Hodson – NoM re Cllr
Grants.

327 (c)

Cllr Hodson – NoM
Motion for the Ocean – to be
referred to C&R Committee

Date
Contacted

Comments

Completed

Presentation emailed to All Cllrs

04/05/2022

Motion approved. Guidance to
be updated by SK.
Email sent 12/04 second email
sent 04/05.
Dem.
Services

Added to C&R Forward Plan for
meeting 6 June 2022.

04/05/2022

Agenda Item 3

Agenda Item 10
REPORT OF

Head of Communities and Place

To:

Full Council

Subject:

Levelling Up fund submission for Torridge

Date:

13th June, 2022

Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:

To outline the proposals for Torridge District Council‟s Final Submission for the
Levelling Up Fund 2 to the Ministry of Housing Community Local Government for the
redevelopment of Middle Dock.

1.

INTRODUCTION

Torridge is a Priority 1 place for the Levelling Up Fund round 2. Round 2 of the fund, with a
bid deadline of July 6th, again focuses on capital investment in local infrastructure.
The second round of the Levelling Up Fund, will again focus on three themes:
 Transport investments
 Regeneration and town centre investment
 Cultural investment
As part of this there is a strong commitment to net zero and wider environmental ambitions,
which has formed a central part of our development proposals. Although there is a strong
thread of investment in town centres, there is also a key bullet point focused on the
“remediation of abandoned or brownfield sites, for both commercial and new residential
use”1. All funding provided from the Fund will need to be spent by 31st March, 2025 or 202526 on an “exceptional basis”2. Funding bids should be below £20million. There is an
expectation that at least 10% match funding will be provided by the local authority. This can
include the land value given Torridge District Council ownership of the site.
There are 4 ways in which the Levelling Up Fund will be appraised;
 Strategic fit
 Deliverability- this will require evidence to be presented that co-funding has been
secured and also that a delivery partner is involved who has experience of delivering
the appropriate size and type of development proposed.
 Value for Money
 Priority Status- Torridge is priority 1 of 3, the highest category of support.

2.
1
2

REPORT

Levelling Up Fund round 2 prospectus
Levelling Up Fund round 2 prospectus

Page 28

Figure 1: Geoffrey Cox MP at Middle Dock, along with Councillor Ken James, Councillor Claire Hodson, Steve
Hearse (Chief Executive) and other Torridge District Council officers

The Scheme being presented to MHCLG for our Levelling Up Bid, comprises the
redevelopment of Middle Dock, Appledore into the proposed Appledore Clean
Maritime Innovation Centre.
The Appledore Clean Maritime Innovation Centre will establish northern Devon as a globalleading R&D innovation space for clean maritime futures. It will feature cutting-edge
research and industry partnerships from the Centre for Future Clean Mobility (University of
Exeter) and the University of Plymouth‟s Marine Institute. The Centre will draw into its
flexibly-designed spaces the best innovators from academia and industry, and will take the
lead in producing new skills for clean maritime. It will act in collaboration with neighbouring
Harland & Wolff Appledore, in harness with the North Devon UNESCO Biosphere Reserve
and will offer the private sector high quality spaces to research, develop and commercialise,
stimulating growth. The Appledore Clean Maritime Innovation Centre will directly support net
zero ambitions for the Celtic Sea Floating Offshore Wind developments and beyond.
Ultimately this aims to position UK content at the heart of the international FLOW market in a
sector responsible for 2.5% of global emissions.
The centre will act as an anchor for the sector in northern Devon, generating regional
clustering opportunities- within northern Devon and across the wider Ocean Futures sphere,
in particular connected to the Plymouth Freeport.
Yet the Appledore Clean Maritime Innovation Centre is also about far, far more than the
physical building which will be created, and the immediate jobs created, which are currently
estimated at over 100 within the centre itself, including catering and maintenance as well as
high quality research roles. In a district with the 8th lowest median gross weekly earnings for

Page 29

full-time employees 3 and where 41% of jobs pay under the living wage4, with only 21.7% of
the Torridge population qualified to NVQ Level 4 or above5, the centre is about changing
local mindsets and through that the local economy. That GDP per head in Torridge is only
£17,493 compared to £26,765 in North Devon6 illustrates the impact of clustering.
Having a visible demonstration of success at the heart of the community, in a region
(northern Devon) which has never previously had any university presence, will be
transformative, coupled with a level 3-7 marine skills pipeline co-developed in response to
the proposal by Petroc (which includes the South West Institute of Technology‟s Advanced
Engineering facility) and the University of Plymouth. Petroc students will be able to utilise the
centre‟s seminar rooms when their courses need access to the waterfront, and we are keen
to find ways for local schools to benefit from future use as well.
Crucially the centre will also seek to break the constraints of the low aspiration, low wage
economy cycle illustrated below. The approach is backed by the head teachers at Bideford
College, Appledore School, The Northam Federation, West Croft School, St Mary‟s Church
of England Primary School, Bideford and St Helen‟s Church of England Primary School,
Abbotsham all wholeheartedly support proposals.

Low a s piration

Hi gher-skilled,
hi gher paid
vi s i ble jobs not
crea ted

Low
educational
a chi evement

Low s kills and
res ulting
productivity

Figure 2: An illustrative chart indicating the low aspiration, low wage economic cycle constraining current
economic growth in Torridge

Delivering on 6 Levelling Up missions the Appledore Clean Maritime Innovation Centre,
should be seen as the embodiment of the Levelling Up agenda.
3
4

Annual Survey for Hours and Earnings (ASHE), Office for National Statistics, October 2021
Professor Lee Elliot Major, Social Mobility in the South West, April 2022

5

NOMIS web analysis of 2011 UK Census data

6

Local Economic Growth update, June 2021, University of Exeter

Page 30

Building on current economic activity and opportunities
The proposed uses for Middle Dock / the Appledore Clean Maritime Innovation Centre are
not a leap into the dark, but stem from current economic activities, including those being
undertaken by the Biosphere Foundation, and looking to capitalise on future developments
in the region which have been proposed by the Crown Estate.


Smart Biosphere

The Smart Biosphere is aiming to create a UK first- “a landscape-scale environmental
intelligence program harnessing artificial intelligence (AI), big data, IoT remote sensing &
satellite earth observation to build real-time and predictive models of the inter-relationships
between the agri-food system's land-use, soil health/carbon, run-off, water quality, natural
flood management and flood risks”7. Working with innovation partners including the Met
Office, Environment Agency, Satellite Systems Catapult and with significant industry input
from Siemens and AWS the sensor network provides real-time water quality insights to
reduce harmful run-off and damage to local ecosystems whilst increasing productivity for
agriculture. The work, which received initial project development funding from Torridge
District Council, has positioned the Biosphere and northern Devon at the forefront of
environmental intelligence and so the University of Plymouth‟s focus on this thread opens up
future growth opportunities connected to larger scale projects initially in the Celtic Sea and
as a future export route.


Celtic Sea Floating Offshore Wind (FLOW)

The Floating offshore wind opportunity study for the Heart of the South West (May 2022,
commissioned by HotSW LEP, Torridge District Council, North Devon Council and Devon
County Council) explains “The Offshore Renewable Energy Catapult suggests that FLOW in
the Celtic Sea could provide 3,000 jobs and £682m in supply chain opportunities for both
Wales and the South West of England by 2030”8. This follows the announcement in
November 2021 by the Crown Estate of its intention to award 4GW of seabed rights to
FLOW projects in the Celtic Sea, which would need to be deployed by 2035. That would
equate to enough electricity to power approximately 3million homes.
However, the economic opportunities for FLOW will only be felt on a local basis if we are
able to support local businesses in northern Devon and the wider region to be integrated
within the supply chain. An accompanying supply chain directory to the report indicated the
potential for businesses from Appledore to Bradworthy to Great Torrington would be well
positioned to significantly benefit from growth opportunities from FLOW, and the wider
economy to grow as a result of the significant need for a range of roles to be filled, from
welders to caterers to programmers and electrical engineers. The early-stage of FLOW
development in the region provides a range of innovation opportunities to capitalise on a
local level, from the needs for a significant fleet of support vessels for Operations and
7
8

https://www.biospherefoundation.co.uk/smart-biosphere.html

Floating offshore wind opportunity study for the Heart of the South West study (May 2022) , Executive
Summary, page 3

Page 31

Maintenance through to greater use of aquaculture on the infrastructure itself, with both
carbon and economic gains. This again provides a clear justification for the focus of the
University of Plymouth and the inclusion of wet lab and aquaculture tank spaces.
The excess power coming onto land also presents additional opportunities for high-energy
intensive industries, such as data servers and the development of green hydrogen, a clean
energy source.


Harland & Wolff

“With its existing facilities and links with industry, as well as its recent acquisition by Harland
& Wolff, Appledore shipyard is well placed to capitalise on demand for the new vessels that
will be needed for offshore wind development” 9. The regrowth of the shipbuilding and retrofit
industry, especially when aligned with the requirements of both the National Shipbuilding
Strategy and the Clean Maritime Plan 2050 and the strength of the University of Exeter‟s
Centre for Future Clean Mobility (CFCM) presents a combined opportunity for Appledore and
northern Devon to be positioned at the forefront of the global push for clean maritime.
Proposals for the Appledore Clean Maritime Innovation Centre
Middle Dock therefore also presents a unique opportunity to act as an anchor for the future
growth of these strands, bringing them together to create a focus for innovation,
collaboration and sector growth. This in turn provides a stronger draw to the region for
FLOW developers and strengthens their local supply chain content whilst also developing
future export opportunities through being ahead of the global curve for clean maritime.

As part of the proposed centre there will be;
 Workshop and office space for the University of Exeter‟s Centre for Future Clean
Mobility (CFCM)
o



Focus: Development of clean maritime powertrains to support Net Zero
ambitions for Floating Offshore Wind and beyond, from fishing fleets to MoD.
o Objective: To establish Appledore as a global centre for clean shipbuilding
and to establish Celtic Sea FLOW as an exemplar for clean energy
development.
Office space for the University of Plymouth.
o

o

Focus: 1) Environmental intelligence 2) Support for aquaculture, in
partnership with Biosphere Foundation 3) Knowledge Transfer Partnerships,
forging links between local businesses and support from university academics
to strengthen the commercialisation of ideas
Objectives:
 To strengthen regional positioning within the emerging £9bn
environmental sensing global market

9

Floating offshore wind opportunity study for the Heart of the South West study (May 2022), Executive Summary
page 5

Page 32



To support the aquaculture (including seaweed) industry with both
economic and environmental gains

Proposals will also include;
 15 rentable private office spaces and additional open plan office space creating 48
working spaces and additional meeting capacity for 32


3 rentable innovation workshops, totalling 292 sq m



Wet lab (40sq m), aquaculture tank (200sq m)



A new-build quay wall



A retractable bridge across the slipway to connect the site to Harland & Wolff.



Improved transport access to the site, including electric vehicle and eBike charging.



Significant renewable energy generation



A co-developed skills pipeline between Petroc and University of Plymouth from age
16 to degree level



We are also exploring the potential for any required carbon offsetting to be invested
into the North Devon UNESCO Biosphere‟s Natural Capital Marketplace.

Architectural designs
The architectural designs have been developed with Stride Treglown, Bristol and Plymouthbased architects who have delivered equivalent projects, such as iAero in Yeovil, the Met
Office Data Centre in Exeter and the Institute for Advanced Automotive Propulsion for the
University of Bath. The intention is for these plans to be further developed during the
summer and autumn of 2022 with a view to applying for Planning later in 2022, following
suitable procurement processes and wider consultation. This will strengthen the deliverability
scoring of the project and reduce the full length of the scheme given the requirements to
defray Levelling Up funding by March 2025.
Designs
The site and its uses have been designed as an innovation space, providing a buffer zone
between the residential areas and the heavier industrial uses of Harland & Wolff at New
Quay.
Key elements to consider:
 The architects have designed an entrance into the building from the road, unlike the
current site which is hidden by a high stone wall. This is designed to ensure that any
walking past can feel that it is not hidden away but that they might be able to go
inside, if not now then at some point in the future, strengthening the aspirational
psychology. This will be furthered by designs being focused on a combination of
timber and glazing to link to maritime heritage but also ensure that there is a clear
sense of activity and “industry” within.

Page 33







The aquaculture tanks and wet lab are currently envisaged in being within what is
currently a dilapidated old stone barn. Not only will this maintain the heritage links to
the site‟s past it will also have positive carbon implications.
The seminar rooms will serve both as meeting rooms for the site‟s users but will also
be available for external hire. They will also double as a training facility when Petroc
or the universities need to bring students onto site for practical activities requiring the
waterfront access.
There will be some on-site parking (including electric vehicle charging points),
although there will also be increased provision for active travel, with eBike docks
incorporated. Discussions with Devon Highways are already underway to ensure that
this not only supports but also stimulates further investment into active travel in the
area.

Figure 3: A block diagram massing sketch illustrating the nature of proposed development on Middle Dock.
Maximum heights are proposed as being lower than existing structures and so will improve river vistas from
surrounding residential areas.

The project looks to create flexible, and future-proofed, spaces to facilitate innovation and
collaboration for and between both Higher Education and private sector businesses. The
goal will then be to support business growth and as a result create clustering opportunities
within the local economy- for example at Bideford Business Park. This clustering will be
critical to future growth potential in the region, with the Appledore Clean Maritime Innovation
Centre designed to act as a stimulus, supporting businesses to innovate, commercialise and
grow, for which additional future employment spaces will be crucial.

Page 34

A process of operational modelling has also been undertaken in order to ensure that the
proposals are viable and do not create a negative impact on the long-term finances of
Torridge District Council. This has been undertaken based on the development and
operations of existing equitable innovation centres in other sectors. It is essential that the
centre be designed to ensure financial viability as well as being a catalyst for wider economic
growth across the region. Borrowing will be required from the Public Works Loans Board and
these borrowing costs have been factored into this operational model, with repayments paid
for from income returns from the Appledore Clean Maritime Innovation Centre.
Further designs and visualisations will be available in advance of the next Full Council
meeting on 4th July to seek approval for the bid.

Page 35

Options appraisal
In order to ensure that we are optimising the blend of uses and users on site an options
appraisal was undertaken, followed by a wider expression of interest process with potential
university partners.

Option
Do nothing

Pro


Con
 No opportunities for economic

None

development
 No skills growth
 No job creation
 Derelict waterfront site with

Industrial unit build
out




High-level revenue generation for 
TDC
Reasonable level of job creation, 
mostly at mid-salary point


Commercial innovation 
centre


High-level revenue generation for 
TDC
Strong level of job creation,
mostly at mid to high salary

point



University of Exeter
clean maritime
propulsion sole
occupancy on site






Significant impact on local pride

and community aspiration
Growth opportunity for Harland & 
Wolff
Some potential clustering
opportunities
Strong level of job creation,
including a considerable
number of highly skilled roles 


University of Plymouth 
environmental
intelligence and

aquaculture sole
occupancy on site





Significant impact on local pride
and community aspiration
Growth opportunity for Smart
Biosphere
Some potential clustering
opportunities
Supports some skill pipeline
growth with Petroc /
University of Plymouth
Strong level of job creation,
including a considerable

Page 36







cost implications to TDC
No clustering potential for
sectoral growth
No skills growth due to lack of
specialisation / clustering
No impact on local pride or
aspiration
Limited attractiveness of the
site beyond river-front
appeal
No clustering potential for
sectoral growth
Significant risk of
underutilisation
No skills growth due to lack of
specialisation / clustering
Limited revenue returns for
TDC
Does not leverage the
attractiveness of a globalleading HE partner to
reinforce existing
environmental intelligence
sector work
Limited skills growth
Risk of future withdrawal by
University of Exeter
Limited revenue returns for
TDC
Does not leverage the
attractiveness of a globalleading HE partner to
support clean propulsion
opportunities
Limited skills growth
Risk of future withdrawal by
University of Plymouth

Combined University of 
Exeter, University of
Plymouth and
commercial innovation 
spaces









number of highly skilled roles
Considerable impact on local
 Limited revenue returns for
pride and community
TDC
aspiration
Growth opportunity for Harland &
Wolff, Smart Biosphere and
wider aquaculture in the
region, including seaweed
Strong clustering opportunities,
leveraging the attractiveness
of global-leading HE partners
to attract private sector
growth in northern Devon
Delivers on the SW IoT objectives
Supports Petroc’s Advanced
Engineering commitments for
SW IoT
Very strong level of job creation,
including a considerable
number of highly skilled, high
salary point jobs
Risk of 1 university partner
withdrawing in the future is
mitigated

Proposed bid
Torridge District Council‟s proposed bid to the Levelling Up Fund will seek funding support
from Full Council on 4th July, 2022. Figures at this current stage of reporting are indicative
and have not yet received detailed Quantity Surveyor input. Operating model figures are
based on the development and operation of other innovation centres. Inflation has been
factored into the figures. As of 26.5.2022 the funding ask will be approximately £15m, which
would include a Torridge District Council match funding contribution of at least 10%. This will
include land value as a contribution.
Timetable
4th July, 2022
6th July, 2022
Summer / autumn 2022

October / November 2022
Centre opening

Full Council approval to be requested
Levelling Up Fund bid submitted
Further design works
Full Planning submission
Further investigations into relocation of Waste and
Recycling fleet
Expected Levelling Up funding announcement
Summer 2025

Page 37

3.

IMPLICATIONS
Legal Implications

To be evaluated and manged through the process of bid preparation and project.
Financial Implications
As of 26.5.2022 the funding ask will be approximately £15m, which would include a Torridge
District Council match funding contribution of at least 10%. This will include land value as a
contribution.
It is essential that the centre be designed to ensure financial viability as well as being a
catalyst for wider economic growth across the region. Borrowing will be required from the
Public Works Loans Board and these borrowing costs have been factored into this
operational model, with repayments paid for from income returns from the Appledore Clean
Maritime Innovation Centre.
Human Resources Implications
Delivery of Middle Dock will require significant input from the Economic Development and
Major Projects teams, whilst also liaising with the Estates, Legal and Finance teams.
Ongoing recruitment considerations within the teams will take into consideration the
necessary involvement in this project.
Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
Full ecology studies, including for winter birds and otters, will need to be commissioned as
part of the Planning process. An initial ecology study has been undertaken, along with
additional bat surveys in order to prepare for the initial cleansing of the site to remove
asbestos and improve safety for staff on site.
Equality/Diversity
The site is designed to build aspiration and opportunity for all residents in the region,
supporting the goals of the Northern Devon Egality Plan developed in spring 2022 by
NORDAB, the collective of secondary headteachers from across northern Devon.
Risk Management
Without the support of Members, Officers and Full Council, there is the key risk that Middle
Dock will not receive the substantial amount of financial grant funding from the Levelling Up
Fund. Approval to underwrite the co-funding is a key aspect of the deliverability rating of the
scheme and will enable the project to develop significant momentum.

Page 38

The nature of the scheme proposed seeks to mitigate the financial exposure of the Council
to substantial amounts of financial risk. The scheme seeks to balance revenue returns with
the less financially beneficial Higher Education partners in order to create a financially viable
centre, which has been the core goal from the outset and was a key part of the architects‟
briefing. An external consultant has also been brought in who has developed similar financial
models for other innovation centres across the South West.
Torridge District Council will seek to supply a shell building for future tenants rather than
provide a fully kitted-out facility, thus lessening the financial burden and risk on Torridge
District Council. Specialist equipment will be provided through alternative clean maritime
funding streams, such as the ongoing Clean Maritime Demonstration funding calls which
both universities have previously been successful with.
There is also a significant reputational risk to Torridge District Council of being seen to not
support regeneration or boost its local economy in the post-Covid-19 world. This submission
complies with a significant number of our local, and wider national, strategic commitments. It
builds on previous detailed community and partner engagement prepared for the Future
High Street and Levelling Up fund submissions.
A full Risk Register has been compiled for the submission.
Compliance with Policies and Strategies
This project delivers upon a significant range of local and national strategies as well as highlevel national studies:








The North Devon and Torridge Local Plan, 2018 - 2031 stipulates:
o “Appledore will develop further as a centre for maritime activities. The
development of marine based industries and a quality tourism offer will
contribute to re-balancing Northam's community and add economic value”
o “Within northern Devon, high-value jobs in business, education and research,
those supporting a low carbon economy and other key growth sectors will be
encouraged in sustainable locations”.
The Torridge District Council Strategic Plan, 2020-23 (Annex 18), which states as
the first objective an ambition to “promote aspiration and growth to create a vibrant
culture and thriving economy with quality jobs”
The Northern Devon- A Road to recovery prospectus (May, 2021) contains 4 core
strands which are all enhanced through the proposals- Innovation and Ideas, Skills
and aspirations, Business environment and Connected Communities.
Northern Devon Social Egality Plan (March 2022) which “includes the creation of
strong pathways to higher technical, apprenticeship and degree level study that will
match the ambition we will ignite in our young people”, with the establishment of
university-level provision in the region at the heart of ambitions in order to “map
pathways for young people to graduate-level professions” within the region, as well
as accompanying “higher technical qualifications and degree apprenticeships as well
as taught programmes of relevance to the national and local high skill labour market”,

Page 39











with pathways through from primary school to secondary, FE and into both
employment and HE routes within the local economy, preventing generationrepeating loss of young talent from the area and diminishment of local intangible
capital.
The Team Devon Covid-19 Economy and Recovery Prospectus seeks support for
businesses, for the people and workforce who drive our economy forward and for
towns and rural communities- again, all delivered through Middle Dock‟s focus on
R&D, productivity, skills and higher quality, sustainable employment.
The HotSW LEP Build Back Better Plan also has a focus on skill development for
“People and Ideas”, supporting training and development of a more vibrant “Business
Environment”.
The Heart of the South West LEP’s Strategic Economic Plan 2014-2030 by (a)
“creating conditions for growth”, “(b) maximising productivity & employment” (through
a new „strategic employment site‟ and support for „reaching new markets‟) and “(c)
capitalising on our distinctive assets”. Within this it will also provide avenues to
strengthen the Heart of the South West LEP’s Local Industrial Strategy.
Crucially these proposals seek to further the ambitions and local profile of the
Torridge District Climate Emergency declaration (2019), with the drive to further
the Net Zero ambition locally, regionally and internationally at the heart of the
ambition.
The One Northern Devon, 10 Year Quality of Life Strategy – 2020-2030, New
Devon CCG, delivering the vision that “aspirations are achieved through equal
access to the best education & employment”.

Data Protection (GDPR) Implications
No personal data is being collated / collected.
Lead Member Views
Date of Consultation- 26.5.2022
The Appledore Clean Maritime Innovation Centre at Middle Dock is an exciting project which
positions businesses in Torridge and across northern Devon at the front of maritime
innovation. We‟re a traditional maritime community and need to be proud of that, but also
use the opportunities presented by the growth and investment in floating offshore wind
generation to create good jobs and employment for the people of the region that also taps
into the appetite for cleaner, carbon reducing solutions
Council Leader Views
.
Date of Consultation- 30.5.2022
The Celtic Sea has previously been overlooked for fixed offshore wind development largely
due to seabed depths. However the current need for energy independence, recent
developments in energy markets, and also floating offshore wind (FLOW) technology have
reignited the likelihood of significant investment in new installations, many of which are
already in the advanced planning stages.

Page 40

The opportunities for the region could be as big as the supply chain built around the Hinkley
C powerplant development in Somerset, which has had a huge impact on local jobs and
business prosperity spanning many years and that continues to this day. We need to ensure
that we stay ahead of the game as the sector is already moving and developing very quickly.
It‟s great to be collaborating with our partners at Heart of the South West LEP (HotSW),
academic institutions, the maritime sector including Maritime UK (SW), local businesses and
other public sector bodies in an integrated approach that has such huge potential. We hope
that this bid will be the catalyst that unlocks the investment to bring these plans to fruition.
4.

CONCLUSIONS

The Appledore Clean Maritime Innovation Centre creates the potential for significant
economic and social gains to Appledore and the entire northern Devon sub-region, with
wider ramifications across Devon and the South West. The Centre stands to not only attract
the sub-region‟s first ever university presence but also attract both well-established industry
partners and innovative new businesses. The impact on local community pride and the
resulting impact on aspiration, potentially on future educational attainment, and future
economic growth, are all unparalleled for the area.
5.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That Members:
o Note the contents of the report and the ongoing development of the Levelling
Up fund round 2 bid for Middle Dock / the Appledore Clean Maritime
Innovation Centre.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
Consultations:

Contact Officer:

Date of Consultation – 27.5.22
Officers Consulted – Chief Executive, Head of Communities
and Place, Head of Legal and Governance, S151 Officer
Economic Development Officer
Major Projects Manager

Page 41

Agenda Item 11
REPORT OF

Public Health and Housing Manager

To:

Full Council

Subject:

Carbon, Environment and Biodiversity Plan for Torridge - 2022
Update

Date:

13th June 2022

Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:
1. To put forward for approval by Full Council the 2022 update of the Carbon,
Environment and Biodiversity Plan for Torridge

1. Introduction
In July 2019 Torridge District Council declared a ‘Climate Emergency’. This was in
recognition of the science and evidence of the impacts that climate change is having on
our environment, population and communities. This declaration committed Torridge
District Council to reach net carbon neutrality by 2030.
In 2021 members approved our first Carbon, Environment and Biodiversity Plan and we
are committed to reviewing, updating and presenting this to members on an annual
basis.

2. The 2022 Plan
The updated plan is attached to this report. It has been developed with input from the
Member Climate Working Group who endorse and put forward the plan for approval by
Full Council.
The changes/ updates to this year’s plan are as follows:











Added the revised PID process to the governance section
Added 2021’s carbon footprint results (reported to C&R December 2021)
Added the Coastal Change Management Area Technical Evidence Maps for
Torridge
Updated Devon County Council’s carbon plan programme/ progress
Updated the LEP section to include the Blueprint for Clean Growth
Provided an outline of the People and Place review
Provided details of the Nature Recovery Plan (reported to C&R September
2021) and Community Renewal Fund projects added to the biosphere section
2021 staff survey results
New section on risk management which will be further developed through the
Member Climate Group
Updated action plan with additional details provided.

Page 42

1

Legal Implications
None
Financial Implications
While the Carbon Plan does not specify any specific investment required from
Torridge District Council it does highlight areas where financial impacts may be
seen in the future as we move towards our stated climate ambitions.
Human Resources Implications
NA
Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
Sustainability and biodiversity are at the heard of the Carbon, Environment and
Biodiversity Plan for Torridge
Equality/Diversity
N/A
Risk Management
Climate change and our net-zero carbon commitment are included on our
Corporate Risk Register.
Compliance with Policies and Strategies
NA
Data Protection (GDPR) Implications
NA
Climate Change
As above
Lead Member Views – Cllr Hames
I thank Janet Williams for a typically thorough appraisal and review of the
Carbon Plan and I commend the proposed revisions to Members. It is my hope
that by approving the revised Plan and in the context of the Climate Emergency
Members will more fully commit to supporting its provisions. I also strongly
suggest that an appropriate budget should be put in place to ensure that the
actions detailed in the report are implemented.

Page 43

2

8.

CONCLUSIONS

We are now in a programme of annual review, update and approval of TDC’s Plan and
hopefully members will appreciate the ongoing efforts and progress that is being made
in this programme. We have laid the foundations for taking forward this Corporate
Priority and will continue to refine this Plan to highlight progress, issues and
opportunities. This is broad and ever-changing agenda touching most aspects of
Council operations but the annual reporting of the Plan allows us to take stock of our
progress and focus going forward. We will continue to refine this report in annual
iterations, setting targets and developing a ‘roadmap’ to meet our stated net-neutrality
declaration. Meeting our targets will be an ongoing challenge to this Authority given the
pressure on resources and competing priorities both locally and nationally.
9.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That members note and approve the 2022 update of the Carbon, Environment and
Biodiversity Plan for Torridge
SUPPORTING INFORMATION
Consultations:

Lead Member for Climate – Cllr Hames

Contact Officer:

Jan Williams Public Health and Housing Manager

Background Papers:

None

Page 44

3

Page 45

Version
1
2

Date
June 2021
June 2022

Page 46

Introduction ........................................................................................................................... 1
Background to this plan ..................................................................................................... 1
Welcome to Torridge ......................................................................................................... 1
The case for declaring a climate emergency...................................................................... 3
What we have already achieved ........................................................................................ 6
Our Vision ......................................................................................................................... 8
Our response to the challenge ........................................................................................... 9
TDC’s Carbon Footprint ...................................................................................................... 11
Opportunities for Torridge on the journey to Carbon Neutrality............................................ 14
Working with Devon County Council ................................................................................... 15
The LEP and the Growth Strategy....................................................................................... 17
Planning Control – People and Place .................................................................................. 18
Biodiversity and the Natural Environment............................................................................ 20
Communications ................................................................................................................. 24
How our staff will help make us a greener authority ......................................................... 24
Supporting our Members in the journey to net zero ......................................................... 25
Outward Facing Communications .................................................................................... 25
Risk Management ............................................................................................................... 26
Coastal Change Management Technical Evidence Maps ................................................... 28
Our Priorities and Plans ...................................................................................................... 32
Action Plan 2022 ................................................................................................................. 28

Page 47

Introduction
Background to this plan
In July 2019 Torridge District Council (TDC) declared a ‘Climate Emergency’. This was in
recognition of the science and evidence of the impacts that climate change is having on our
environment, population and communities and to acknowledge that TDC are committed to
assisting in the response to this threat. This declaration committed Torridge District Council to
reach net carbon neutrality by 2030.
In June 2021 we approved our first Carbon, Environment and Biodiversity Plan, and committed
to reviewing and updating this on an annual basis. This is the first review of that plan, the
intention of which is to outline our progress in meeting our stated commitments and show we
are fully playing our part in the fight against climate change and biodiversity loss.
We recognise that climate change is a long-term threat and action needs to be taken, at every
level to slow and if possible, reverse, these effects. TDC is committed to taking responsibility
and being fully involved in this process. We recognise that we are at the heart of taking action
and promoting positive changes in Torridge to meet this goal. We also recognise that TDC
cannot do this alone and are committed to working alongside others to achieve this important
objective.
We also see the opportunities that these necessary operational and lifestyle shifts will bring,
to help our communities and residents lead healthier, more sustainable lifestyles while
supporting businesses and our economy to grow and flourish in this new green future.

Welcome to Torridge
Torridge District Council is located within the northwest of Devon. The district is divided into
16 Wards, comprising 64 parishes, and is predominantly rural. The main towns are Bideford,
Holsworthy and Great Torrington, with almost half of the population living in or close to
Bideford/Northam and the remainder of the area fairly sparsely populated. The district is
officially classified as ‘Rural 80’, with at least 80 per cent of the population living in rural
settlements and larger market towns.
The district comprises 984 sq. km (380 sq. miles) and has a high quality natural and built
environment. The large majority of land in Torridge is classified as green space, covering 95%
(938 sq. km) of the district’s total area. The coastline, historic towns, nature reserves and
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty are valuable assets; as quality of life and environment
becomes an ever more important factor in choosing where to live it is likely that population
growth in Torridge will continue.
The economy and culture of Torridge has been traditionally focused on agriculture and fishing
and activities linked to agriculture and food processing remain a strong feature of the local
economy. Torridge also benefits from its active and attractive tourism sector, particularly

1

Page 48

around the seaside resorts of Westward Ho! and Appledore, and the historic town of Great
Torrington.
The Office for National Statistics (ONS) provided a population estimate for Torridge in mid2018 of 68,143. (The 2011 census had a total population of 63,839, showing a 6.7% increase
in the Torridge population over that 7-year period).
Our demographic is predominantly within the 45-64 age group and our population is older than
the UK average. Conversely, we have lower than the UK average of residents within the 2544 age group, and there is a concern that our young people are choosing not to stay in the
district to pursue education and economic opportunities.
Between 2016 and 2041 Torridge’s population is set to grow by 15.3% to an estimated 77,300
and the age profile of the population is expected to shift dramatically with a real and
proportionate increase in the oldest age groups over the 25-year period.
It may be useful to understand the carbon dioxide emissions from the district in the context of the
other local authorities across Devon. The graphic below highlights the differences between carbon
emissions from rural district compared to urban locations. City areas have lower transport emissions
as residents tend to be in closer proximity to amenities and therefore can walk, cycle and use public
transport for a higher proportion of journeys than those in rural areas. Urban areas tend to be on the
gas grid whereas dwellings in rural areas are more likely to rely on oil, and gas is a lower carbon
fuel. Torridge in particular has a significant number of ‘off-gas’ communities. Rural areas have higher
emissions from agriculture, while manufacturing and other industrial processes tend to be located in
urban
areas,
so
these
areas
have
higher
emissions associated with these activities.

Fig 1 2019 Greenhouse gas emissions across Devon by Sector (with kind permission of Devon
County Council)

2

Page 49

The case for declaring a climate emergency
Our planet’s climate is changing and warming is accelerating. The Intergovernmental Panel
on Climate Change (IPCC) has warned that we have 10 years to limit climate change to avoid
a catastrophe. In response to the Paris Agreement, a special report on Global Warming1 was
published in October 2018. This describes the risks that a 2ºC rise in temperature is likely to
cause compared to 1.5ºC, including increased risks to health, livelihoods, food security, water
supply, human security and economic growth. The report found that limiting global warming to
1.5ºC would require ‘rapid and far-reaching’ transitions in land, energy, industry, buildings,
transport and cities. The report emphasised that with ambitious action from national and subnational authorities, civil society, business and local communities, it may still be possible to
limit warming to 1.5ºC. In addition, a recent Intergovernmental Panel for Biodiversity and
Ecosystem Services (IPBES)2 stated that around 25% of the world’s species are now at threat
of extinction due to habitat loss and the effects of climate change.
Global temperatures have already increased by 1ºC from pre-industrial levels. Atmospheric
CO₂ levels are above 400 parts per million (ppm). This far exceeds the 350ppm deemed to be
a safe level for humanity.
In February 2022 the IPCC published its report Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation
and Vulnerability3. This has concluded that Human-induced climate change, including more
frequent and intense extreme events, has caused widespread adverse impacts and related
losses and damages to nature and people, beyond natural climate variability. Across sectors
and regions the most vulnerable people and systems are observed to be disproportionately
affected. The rise in weather and climate extremes has led to some irreversible impacts as
natural and human systems are pushed beyond their ability to adapt
The latest generation of national climate projections, the UKCP18 resource from the Met
Office4, provides up to date and robust scientific evidence on projected climate changes. Their
latest headline projection report was published in July 20215. The general climate trend
predicted by UKCP18 for the UK is an increased chance of warmer, wetter winters and of
hotter, drier summers, along with an increase in the frequency and intensity of extremes.
Under UKCP18, Storm Desmond, which occurred in winter 2015/16 and caused £1.3 billion
in insurance costs, was deemed more than 40% more likely due to climate change.
In order to reduce the chance of runaway global warming and limit the effects of climate
breakdown, it is imperative that CO₂ (carbon equivalent) emissions reduce from their current
6.5 tonnes per person per year to less than 2 tonnes, and this needs to be done as soon as
possible.
Whilst the cause might be a subject of debate for some, human activity has contributed to the
situation and so we have a moral duty to intervene. The risk of not acting could have profound
consequences on this and future generations.
1

IPCC report
IPBES report
3 IPCC 6th assessment
4 Met Office UK climate projections
5 Met Office UK climate projections
2

3

Page 50

For those who say that climate change is not happening, we need to look at the evidence6.
Globally, 2010-2019 was the warmest decade since records began in 1850 and each decade
since 1980 has been warmer than the preceding one. 2019 was the second warmest year on
record (2016 is currently the warmest) and 2020 reached the same record level7. The UK’s
warmest ten years ever recorded have all been since 2002. The last 30-year period (19912020) has been 0.9°C warmer than the preceding 30 years (1961-1990). The warming trend
is evident across all months and all of the UK. The IPPC have issued a ‘final warning’ that
greenhouse gas emissions much peak by 2025 to avert climate disaster8.

Fig 2 Met office graphic showing UK annual temperature trend – cooler years are blue, warmer
years are red.
Climate change is having a range of impacts and the term ‘global warming’ does not
adequately express the effects – it’s causing more extreme storms, droughts, heat waves,
melting ice, ocean acidification and rising sea levels. Our coastal communities and habitats
are at particular risk from the acceleration in rising sea levels; in 2020 the Global Mean Sea
Level was at the highest ever measured9. As sea levels rise, low lying and coastal areas will
be at particular risk.
The Local Planning Authorities for Northern Devon have identified the need for formal
designation of Coastal Change Management Areas in the developing revised Local Plan in
recognition of the impacts on our coastline from a range of factors, including climate change.
This is underpinned by a detailed research project in partnership with Natural England, the
Environment Agency, the Marine Management Organisation and the University of Plymouth.
This research uses the latest projections for sea level change, and particularly establishes the
extent of potential flood risk across the Taw-Torridge estuary. In its worse case scenario
6

Met Office what is climate change?
Nasa 2020 report
8 https://www.ipcc.ch/report/sixth-assessment-report-working-group-3/
9 European Environmental Agency indicators
7

4

Page 51

modelling, incorporating up to date climate change impact predictions, it shows that more
areas may be at risk of coastal change than previously thought10. This modelling will be used
to help plan for managing future coastal change by the Council and other agencies. While the
new Local Plan will set out policies about development in those areas, along with consideration
of what might need to be relocated or protected, the research will also assist with coastal
protection work and the operation and maintenance of existing sea defences and flood risk
and coastal erosion measures.
The series of maps show the areas that have the potential to be most impacted, along with
how the pebble ridge at Northam Burrows could roll back over time. The current research
and the associated maps do not take account of any existing flood defences, nor reflect
any future works for protection, which have the potential to reduce the potential
impacts. However the maps highlight the significant impacts of climate change, particularly
on coastal communities and underlines the urgency of the climate crisis. The maps are given
in full from page 28 of this report.
Farming will also be affected by climate change. While hotter weather and higher levels of
CO2 may make growing some crops easier, or even allow us to produce new ones, with more
droughts expected, water may not be as easy to access, making it harder to plan the growing
season. Some crops we grow today may also be unsuited to higher temperatures, and there
are risks from new pests and diseases previously unsuited to our climate.
Floods, storms, and extreme heat can cause damage to buildings, disrupt transport, and affect
health. Buildings and infrastructure need to be adapted to cope with the new conditions.
Businesses will have to plan around a changing climate, bringing additional costs and
challenges as they look to adapt.

10

The Coastal Change Management Area Technical Evidence and maps

5

Page 52

Fig 3 Met office graphic showing the impacts of climate change.

What we have already achieved
Torridge District Council has historically been very active in the monitoring of its carbon
footprint and has taken steps to reduce emissions. We developed a Carbon Management
Programme which was approved in 2009 and committed TDC to a 12.5% reduction in CO2 by
2014. This target was met and exceeded: in the last period measured (16/17), carbon
emissions had been reduced by 16.3% since the baseline year of 2008. We have already
shown foresight and willingness in our sustainability ambitions and will continue to do so.

6

Page 53

Examples of measures implemented under this programme include:
•

Installation of solar panels on our main building at Riverbank House. The 39 kw of
panels generates approximately 27,000 kWh pa which is used internally and exported
back to the grid. The roof at Riverbank House has also had its insulation upgraded for
added heat efficiency.

•

Solar panels at Caddsdown - 24KW of panels generates approximately 21,000 kWh
pa. Woodchip Biomass boilers are also installed at Caddsdown and Caddsdown Blue.

•

Riverbank House has an electric vehicle charging point and we are rolling out EV
charging points in our public car parks and 55KW rapid charging units have so far been
installed in Bideford, Torrington, Holsworthy and Appledore.

•

Major refurbishments at our leisure facilities in Northam, Holsworthy and Torrington
Pools included heat recovery and air conditioning systems replacing old inefficient
plant.

•

Solar powered Car Park meters have been installed at our main car parks.

•

Our construction schemes at Caddsdown and Tamar have won multiple sustainability
awards and works have been undertaken at all of our commercial sites to improve
energy efficiency standards.

•

TDC have purchased their first electric fleet vehicle, while all our waste vehicles comply
with the latest Euro engine standards and we are committed to including electric and
other sustainable options when on renewal of any Council vehicle.

7

Page 54

•

We completed the refurbishment of out Northam Burrows Visitor Centre, materials
were reused where possible or upgraded to better insulation properties to add to the
overarching green environmental approach adopted for the project, with significant
carbon savings per year.

•

We are carrying out energy surveys of the properties we own, to identify opportunities
for improving energy efficiency and installing renewable energy.

The measures put forward in the previous carbon Management Programme had an added
benefit of projected savings to the council of over £300,000 through reduced energy
consumption, investment in renewable energy and improving energy performance ratings for
our estate.
While some of the measures taken were significant, the cost saving benefits were realised
and provided incentive for action, taking this process further may be more challenging in some
areas. However, opportunities and technology are continually advancing and measures that
were considered and rejected previously may be viable now or in the future. Because of this
it will be necessary to keep these matters under regular review. In addition, as policies change
and priorities develop, funding and support for implementing sustainable measures should be
explored at every opportunity. We need to position ourselves to fully tap into these wider
opportunities and work alongside others to achieve these objectives. Cost savings are
important, but not the only driver of the climate change agenda that TDC has committed to.

Our Vision
•

By 2030 Torridge District Council operations will be clean, efficient and net carbon neutral,
leading by example in our community and to our residents and businesses.

•

We will play a wider role enabling, encouraging and supporting the wider District of
Torridge to achieve net-zero ambitions.

•

We will work with our partners including Devon County Council, North Devon Biosphere
and North Devon Council and will cooperate, seek opportunities to develop projects, and
will take forward policies that will enhance our environment, biodiversity and improve
sustainability of our communities and the wellbeing of our residents.

•

We will seek economic opportunities and improvements for our communities and
businesses in the new green future, promoting and directing sustainable development and
seeking financial support for projects to enhance our environment and assist in reaching
our carbon neutral target.

•

We will promote our beautiful environment and rich biodiversity, and Torridge District as a
beacon for sustainability, community action and green opportunities.

•

We will work with Central Government and Devon County Council to contribute at a local
level in the delivery of national and regional climate change, biodiversity and sustainability
programmes.
8

Page 55

•

We will work with our local communities to plan for and mitigate the effects of climate
change within our district.

•

We will seek to work with our local schools and young people to educate, promote and
support the next generation to take on the challenges ahead.

Our response to the challenge
While this plan sets out TDC’s road map to carbon neutrality, we recognise that we need to
integrate climate change and sustainability into the heart of our governance and processes.
In order to achieve this we have implemented the following:
Strategic Plan
In October 2020 the Full Council adopted a revised Strategic Plan for 2020-202311. This made
a commitment to ‘Our Environment, Our Future’ and to:
•
•
•
•
•

Reduce the eco-footprint of the district to meet the Council’s carbon neutral target of 2030.
Deliver clean, well maintained and managed streets, parks and open spaces.
Provide high quality planning and development services.
Manage coastal and flood defences to meet the challenges of the changing climate.
Reduce waste and increase recycling.

These priorities will form the basis of divisional business plans going forward, so that all the
services in the Council will be aligned to and working towards these aims.
Specific actions that will be taken forward by us and in partnership include:
•
•
•

•

•

11

Relocating all Waste and Recycling resources to one new modern Environmental Centre.
Adopt, implement, monitor and report against a revised carbon plan for TDC ensuring that
climate change and biodiversity is at the heart of our governance and processes.
Seek carbon reduction and energy efficiency across the existing Council asset base,
looking at options for solar generation, ground and air source heating, biomass and other
technologies.
Review the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan to ensure that it remains relevant for
good development that unlocks investment and opportunity, protects our important natural
assets and helps to create strong and resilient communities.
Be responsive to erosion risks and work in partnership for the protection of our coastal
assets and communities.

Torridge Strategic Plan

9

Page 56

Management and Governance
Members are at the heart of decision making at TDC, and a Member Lead for the Climate has
been assigned, and is tasked with overseeing, supporting and lobbying for sustainability and
climate change to be at the forefront of Council operations and policy, responding effectively
to need and maximise the influence of TDC as widely as possible in our communities.
We have established a cross party Member Climate Emergency Group who are meeting
regularly to feed into projects and provide a sounding board and feedback on actions and
priorities. This group is formally recognised in TDC’s Constitution and reports and makes
recommendations to the wider decision-making committees of the Council.
We have an established committee reporting procedure, part of which is consideration of the
impacts of policies and proposals brought before those decision-making bodies. Climate
Change is an explicit matter which must be reported on as part of this process so that members
can take full account of the environment when making their decisions.
In September 2021 a revised ‘PID Process’ was approved following a task and Finish group
review. The PID - Process Initiation Document – is required for every capital project and is
considered by Members at full council annually as part of the capital programme and budget
setting process. This process now includes a "Climate Statement", with detail of the climate
considerations relating to the project, along with the carbon neutral status of the project, and
how the project impacts/helps the council towards it's "Carbon Neutral by 2030" commitment.
It also includes Biodiversity statement, to include the question – How does this project
conserve and increase Biodiversity.
Where specific work streams merit it, we will establish specialist Task and Finish groups to
progress and report on actions and outcomes. These will be essentially task and finish groups
and will provide a flexible response to issues and projects as required. These will utilise the
expertise of external individuals and organisations and will promote collaborative and
multiagency working to establish common goals and meet those aims. An example of this is
the establishment of the Torridge Active Travel Group tasked with identifying and developing
cycling, walking and other active travel options across the district which includes membership
from local Town Councils, Active Devon, Devon County and North Devon Councils, and a
local Cycling campaign group. The Council has also contributed financially to the preparation
of a Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) covering Barnstaple, Bideford
and Northam and has representation from the Active Travel Group on the LCWIP Steering
Group.

10

Page 57

TDC’s Carbon Footprint
It is clear that in order to meet our stated target of carbon neutrality we must measure our
carbon impacts and usage accurately and regularly and use this as a basis for determining
our actions and priorities.
The Government regularly publishes Local Authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions
national statistics12. These provide the most reliable and consistent breakdown of estimates
of CO2 emissions across the country using nationally available datasets going back to 2005.
These show a steady reduction in per capita emissions for Torridge, from 6.6 tonnes in 2005
to 3.8 tonnes in the last reporting year of 2019. This is below the average in the country but
still some way off the 2-tonne per capita goal set by the IPPC. It is interesting to note that
these improvements have come about through a steady reduction in carbon emissions across
industrial, commercial and domestic sources (due in large part to switch from coal in electricity
generation to gas and renewables) however there has been a marginal increase in emissions
from transport sources over the same period.
In terms of emissions from Council operations, to which we’ve committed a net zero target,
there is an established methodology for assessing and reporting on the carbon footprint of an
organisation as given in guidelines published by HM Government – Environmental Reporting
Guidelines (updated March 2019)13
The reporting guidance identifies the main types of emission sources in three categories
known as ‘scopes’. These are defined as:
Scope 1: direct emissions from fuel combustion, such as boilers for heating buildings,
transport fuel used by owned or directly leased vehicles and ‘fugitive emissions’14.
Scope 2: indirect emissions from the consumption of purchased electricity i.e., from power
stations, and heat generated off site i.e., district heating.
Scope 3: indirect emissions from the transmission and distribution of electricity and from many
other activities, including products and outsourced services which are bought on behalf of the
council. For most organisations, these are the largest area of emissions, but are
acknowledged as the most difficult to measure.
Reporting of scope 1 and 2 emissions is given as ‘essential’ by the guidance. Scope 3
reporting is discretionary, but desirable.
We carried out a full review of our carbon footprint in 2021 and can report that the Council has
a
total
footprint
of
3,875.1
tCO2e
for
the
period
2020/2021.

12

UK local authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 2005 to 2019 GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
13 Guidance on carbon reporting
14

Some equipment, such as fridges and air conditioning units, not only use energy, but also contain chemicals
which are greenhouse gases such as hydrofluorocarbons. A degree of leakage is inevitable. These gases are
known as fugitive emissions and good equipment maintenance can reduce the problem.

11

Page 58

No. Category

2020/21

SCOPE 1: Direct GHG emissions and removals

2243.2

1. Stationary combustion

108.5

2. Owned transport

2134.8

3. Process emissions

0.0

4. Fugitive emissions

0.0

SCOPE 2: Energy GHG indirect emissions

314.4

5. Electricity

314.4

SCOPE 3: Other indirect GHG emissions

1317.4

6. Purchased material and fuel

740.1

7. Transport related activities

18.6

8. Waste disposal

5.8

9. Leased assets and franchising, outsourcing

552.9

10. Sold Goods and Services

0.0

TOTAL GROSS FOOTPRINT (SCOPES 1, 2 and 3)
11. Offset Emissions

3875.1
0.0

TOTAL NET FOOTPRINT (SCOPES 1, 2, 3 +Offsets)

3875.1

This calculation considered Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions.
Scope 1 includes four emission categories:
1. Stationary Combustion: Emissions associated with combustion of fuels, typically
boilers in buildings. This includes owned buildings including leased out buildings where
the Council have responsibility for maintenance.
2. Emissions associated with mobile equipment, typically transport equipment e.g., waste
collection vehicles, maintenance vans, LA owned cars etc.
3. Process Emissions: Waste collection is part of the Council's obligations – those
emissions are included within transport-based emissions (2. Owned Transport). There
are no other process emissions.
4. Fugitive Emissions: Emissions associated with refrigerant leaks from cooling
equipment. No information was available.

12

Page 59

Scope 2 includes one emissions category,
5. Emissions associated with purchased electricity. This includes owned buildings
including leased out buildings where the Council has responsibility for maintenance.
Scope 3 includes five emission categories:
6. Purchased material and fuel: Information taken from invoices and spend was allocated
to a SIC product category and goods or service. Only product categories where spend
was on goods are included. Well to Tank (WTT) emissions from fuels and processes
were calculated from all the other sections in the inventory with the exception of
sections 3, 4, 8, 9 and 10.
7. Transport related activities: Emissions from grey fleet, business travel and commuting.
There was no business travel by rail, air or road (hire car) in the reporting period.
Commuting emissions were not included as this data is not captured.
8. Waste disposal: Emissions associated with disposal of the Council's own waste e.g.,
from its offices (as opposed to waste produced by constituents). Data on water
treatment was included. No information was available regarding other waste
production and so these emissions have been excluded from the footprint.
9. Leased assets and franchising, outsourcing: Information taken from invoices and
spend was allocated to a SIC product category and goods or service. Only product
categories where spend was on services are included.
10. Sold goods and services: No sold goods or services were identified.
We will continue to carry out a full review and update to our carbon footprint on an annual
basis to provide a sound foundation to plotting our route to carbon neutrality by 2030. In
addition, we continue to seek to standardise our reporting approach, particularly around scope
3 emissions, with North Devon Council. This way we can compare and contrast our carbon
usage and drive improvements through a collaborative approach with our neighbouring
Authority.

13

Page 60

Opportunities for Torridge on the journey to Carbon Neutrality
For too long, climate change and the climate emergency has been portrayed in purely negative
terms. This needn’t be the case and we should look to the benefits that moving to a sustainable
and low carbon future can bring to our district and economy.
Such benefits can include, but are not limited to:
•

•
•

•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

Supporting local economic growth by harnessing a low carbon economic strategy that
identifies local opportunities and supports the development of local jobs, knowledge and
infrastructure.
Generating and supporting innovation to stimulate growth and develop real social change
in our communities.
Helping local businesses to diversify and grow sustainably, to cut costs and increase
competitiveness by reducing their energy, water and resource use. Promoting and
supporting the circular economy.
Saving money for the council and local people by ensuring that local homes, businesses
and public buildings use energy and other resources efficiently.
Helping the most vulnerable at risk from fuel poverty and the impacts of extreme weather
such as flooding, over-heating and cold.
Boosting the local economy by supporting and promoting our green tourism base,
protecting and marketing our natural assets and local sustainable services.
Generating income for the council: making the most of the council’s assets to generate
power, enhance biodiversity and support the diversification and vibrancy of our
communities in our new sustainable future.
Helping households save money on their energy bills and keep warm and healthy by
improving the energy efficiency of local homes.
Promote wellbeing within our communities through the use of active travel and making our
natural assets accessible to all.
Direct cost savings: through initiatives to reduce the council’s use of energy and water and
to minimise waste.
Pooling resources: working in partnership with others, sharing services and increasing
purchasing power.
External funding: maximising opportunities to bring in investment through external funding
mechanisms available under the emerging climate and biodiversity agendas.
Protection from future costs by supporting our communities to be fully prepared to manage
future weather-related events, reducing costs such as the repair and clear-up from flooding
and storm damage as well as the human costs of such events.

Embracing a low carbon, biodiverse, sustainable future will have huge benefits for this
Authority, and for our communities, businesses and residents. By addressing the climate and
ecological emergency we have an opportunity to create a fairer, healthier, more resilient and
more prosperous society for generations to come.

14

Page 61

Working with Devon County Council
Devon County Council have similarly declared a Climate Emergency15, and since that time
have been working on developing their own carbon plan in response. In 2019 it set up a Devon
Climate Emergency Response Group (DCERG) tasked with coordinating a collaborative
Devon-wide response to the climate emergency to facilitate the reduction of carbon emissions
to net-zero by 2050 at the latest and prepare Devon for the necessary adaptations to
infrastructure and services to respond to a 1.5-degree warmer world. TDC has a
representative on this group as well as the Tactical Group which sits beneath it and provides
the practical support to the strategic group.

Fig 4 Devon County Council structure Climate Response Structure
The climate impacts group has been tasked with reviewing levels of community adaptation for
a warmer world and will report on measures that need to be implemented to ensure that our
communities are suitably prepared.
The Net Zero Task Force16 was tasked with developing a Devon Carbon Plan to set Devon on
the path to becoming net-zero by their target date. This task force is made up of leading
academics and sector experts who have used their specialist knowledge and experience to
produce an evidence-led Devon Carbon Plan.

15
16

Devon Climate Emergency
Devon Climate Emergency Net Zero Task Force

15

Page 62

The process for the development of the Devon Carbon Plan is given below:

Fig 5 Devon Carbon Plan development process
At the current time, the Citizens Assembly17 have reported their results and the final Devon Carbon
Plan is being prepared to be put to County Council Members for approval by the end of this year.
TDC are committed to continuing to be involved in this process including the integration of our own
carbon plan with the wider Devon plan. We recognise that only through a shared vision and ongoing
collaboration with both our County and wider District Partners will we be able to achieve many of the
goals we aspire to, particularly where wider infrastructure or regional actions need to be
implemented to support our own and our community’s journeys to net-zero.

17

Devon Climate Assembly

16

Page 63

The LEP and the Growth Strategy
The Heart of the Southwest Local Enterprise Partnership covers Devon, Plymouth, Somerset
and Torbay. It is a business-led partnership between the private sector, Local Authorities,
universities and colleges. The purpose of the partnership is to:
•
•
•

Identify common priorities.
Attract resources and investment.
Make a difference to productivity and prosperity.

As one of the Authorities involved in this partnership we are closely involved in the
development of the plans and strategies on which the local business community needs to
increase productivity and prosperity.
The HotSW LEP has made a commitment to clean, sustainable development across its
initiatives and programmes. Coming out of the Covid-19 epidemic, the Build Back Better
programme18 seeks to focus investment to deliver longer-term economic resilience and
levelling up. This includes retrofit schemes and developing work hubs supporting new local
ways of working in a post-Covid economy. This forms part of a more extensive investment
plan that the LEP is developing under its Route Map to Recovery19; which will not only support
recovery but help transform the Heart of the South West’s productivity and their commitment
to deliver net-zero carbon as part of England’s Greenest economy.

Fig 6 HotSW LEP Roadmap to Recovery
Another significant indicator of future direction and commitment is the LEP’s Local Industrial
Strategy20. This strategy aims to create a long-term approach to navigate through the current
challenging climate and maximise the opportunities and potential available, whilst at the same
time putting reduction of our carbon footprint and protecting our natural environment at the
heart of the strategy. It looks to put in place measures to reduce economic disparities while
creating a stronger and more sustainable economy and high-quality jobs making us more
resilient in a rapidly changing world and moving our economy towards a cleaner and more
inclusive future.
18

Local Economic Partnership Economic Stimulus
Local Economic Partnership Roadmap to Recovery
20 Local Economic Partnership Industrial Strategy
19

17

Page 64

In May 2021 the LEP published its Blueprint for Clean Growth21 which seeks to harness our
region’s unique opportunities around clean energy, marine, aerospace and agri-tech to deliver
clean and inclusive growth across the Southwest and accelerate the path to carbon net zero.
Their stated ambition is to grow the area’s economy in a clean and sustainable way by
delivering inclusive economic prosperity whilst protecting the environment, lowering emissions
and enhancing natural capital. The blueprint sets out how we they will do this, by focusing on
the area’s blue and green economy, creating the necessary conditions to enhance the
economic connections with the marine and land-based environments.
The LEP are also instrumental in supporting innovative local projects such as the Smart
Biosphere Pilot. This project seeks to scale up technology and environmental intelligence at a
landscape scale to build real time predictive models of the inter-relationships between
agriculture land use, soil health, water quality and run off, natural flood management and flood
risks. In doing this it will trigger a range of economic activity and jobs in the natural capital
economy of Northern Devon. This is a ground-breaking project involving the North Devon
Biosphere, Southwest Water, Environment Agency, University of Exeter, Satellite Applications
Catapult and the Environmental Futures & Big Data Impact Lab. Our involvement in this project
shows that TDC are at the cutting edge of innovation and natural capital and clean growth.
TDC fully support this direction of travel of the LEP and also commit to continuing to be integrated
with these wider strategies and programmes.

Planning Control – People and Place
The planning system will play a central role in enabling a shift to a carbon neutral future. The
National Planning and Policy Framework (NPFF) states that the role of planning is to ‘shape
places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions’. By
supporting the right development in the right place, the planning process can have major
impacts on sustainable travel behaviour, low carbon impact building use, and supporting the
infrastructure needed for our low carbon future such as renewable energy schemes.
Central to this process is the development of statutory local plans. Torridge and North Devon
District Councils adopted a Joint Local Plan in October 2018. This is currently the principal
element of the development plan and is the starting point for the determination of planning
applications across both districts. The Plan provides visions, strategies and policies that are
intended to shape how northern Devon develops and it aims to ensure that development is
well planned and managed effectively whilst having a positive impact on local communities,
the economy and the environment and provides a consistent and transparent approach to
planning across the whole of northern Devon.
However, in March 2022 Torridge and North Devon Councils launched their People and Place
project which will empower our local communities to play a key role in shaping the future of
northern Devon through a review of the Local Plan.

21

Local Economic Partnership Blueprint for Clean Growth

18

Page 65

The project encompasses a comprehensive review of the two Councils’ joint Local Plan
and, working with our local communities, will explore how the planning system can be used
to help tackle some of the current and anticipated challenges we face in our area, such as:
•
•
•
•
•

Providing enough quality affordable homes to meet the needs of local people.
Improving access to the services and facilities that support thriving and healthy
communities.
Adapting to evolving economic challenges to support sustainable economic
growth.
Responding to the challenges of climate change.
Protecting and enhancing our natural and historic environments.

This is a significant piece of work for both authorities. An outline timetable for this review is as
follows:

Fig 7 People and Places key milestones
This timetable for preparing an update of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan is based
on current legislation and national planning policy and guidance. However, in August 2020 the
Government published a Planning White Paper seeking views on radical reforms to the
planning system. At the current time there is no clarity as to whether all of the proposed
reforms will be taken forward, or of the timetable for such reforms. In line with Government
advice, the Councils will continue to progress with the proposed update of the Local Plan on
the basis of current legislation until such time as it can no longer do so, or it is not prudent to
do so having regard to any transitional arrangements.
A Joint Planning Policy Committee has been established to oversee the development of this
plan, and includes the Lead Climate Members for both Authorities, indicating the commitment
to the climate and biodiversity agenda in this process.
A number of policies will be developed through this process which will have a significant impact
on the climate and biodiversity agendas. This includes Solar PV and Wind Sensitivity
Assessments, Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure plans, Coastal Change Management
Plans and the development of Design Codes. More information will be provided on the
progress of this in future iterations of this document.
Our current Joint Local Plan was already ahead of the curve in many areas on environmental
and sustainability matters, and we will be looking to continue this by making our new Joint
19

Page 66

Local Plan a flagship of our climate and biodiversity ambitions for the future of Northern Devon.
As this review progresses, further information will be included in future iterations of this report.

Biodiversity and the Natural Environment
We recognise that climate change and biodiversity are closely linked: climate change has
severe direct and indirect impacts on biodiversity and is predicted to be a significant driver of
future biodiversity loss. At the same time, the loss of biodiversity magnifies the adverse effects
of climate change. Biodiversity impacts linked to climate change include habitat
degradation/destruction and the introduction of invasive alien species to ecosystems.
In the same way, biodiversity protection and climate change mitigation go hand-in-hand and
are strongly co-dependant. Managing and protecting biodiversity will mitigate the negative
impacts of climate change and help humans adapt to it; policies and actions aiming at limiting
the effects of climate change will contribute to the protection of biodiversity.
It can be seen that ecosystems rich in biodiversity are healthy ecosystems, which are more
resilient to the impacts of climate change. They provide us with natural buffers against the
impacts of climate change, especially extreme weather events. Healthy ecosystems also
produce other environmental, economic and social benefits such as the supply and purification
of water, provision of food, purification of air and the provision of recreational areas which
promotes activity and wellbeing. A significant benefit of conserving or restoring habitats is the
removal of carbon dioxide from the atmosphere which help to minimise the cause of climate
change by carbon sequestration.
Here in Torridge, we have a unique resource on our doorstep – the North Devon UNESCO
Biosphere Reserve22. Biospheres are designated by UNESCO to be sites of excellence for
demonstrating sustainable development on a bio-regional scale. They have 3 functions:
•
•
•

Conservation of ecosystems, habitats, species and genetic diversity
Development that is environmentally, economically and socially equitable
Knowledge management to promote learning and understanding to be an example for the
local and international community.

The Biosphere seeks adaptation to climate change through the optimisation of natural capital
and the range of ecosystems services from the area.

22

North Devon Biosphere

20

Page 67

Fig 8 North Devon Biosphere map
The North Devon Biosphere Reserve covers 3,300 square km across Torridge and North
Devon and extends into West Devon District. There are 63 Sites of Special Scientific
Interest in the Biosphere Reserve and 671 County Wildlife Sites.
As well supporting and promoting these special landscapes and wildlife areas, the
organisation also seeks to support communities who care about living sustainably and are
involved in a range of projects from local food to transport, waste minimisation, from
sustainable energy production to the role of the environment in supporting wider wellbeing.
In 2021 the Biosphere launched its innovative Nature Recovery Plan23. The plan covers the
terrestrial parts of the North Devon Biosphere Reserve, which includes much of the Torridge
district. It sets out a Vision for nature’s recovery across northern Devon by 2030, and the
priority actions required from 2021-25 to move towards that Vision. The plan’s focus is on
restoring existing nature habitats to good condition, and ensuring connectivity between them,
rather than encouraging significant changes in land use (e.g. from agricultural use to wildlife
management)

23

North Devon Biosphere Nature Recovery Plan

21

Page 68

This Biosphere Nature Recovery Plan focuses on five key land types, which together cover
the majority of northern Devon.
•
•
•
•
•

Coast
Grassland and Arable
Towns and Villages
Trees, Woodlands and Hedges
Wetlands and Waterbodies

District Councils across the Biosphere Reserve are identified as the lead partner or a
supporting partner for several actions, primarily within the Towns and Villages section. There
are also identified actions for the District Councils in the Coast section relating to reducing
disturbance at the high tide roosts around the Taw-Torridge estuary. Whilst some actions
within these sections are already starting to be delivered, the actions are intended to be
challenging but achievable.
In September 2021 Torridge District Council resolved to sign up to the Nature Recovery Plan
Declaration committing us to working with the Biosphere to meet these aims. The Nature
Recovery Plan is considered to complement and help to deliver key objectives on biodiversity
given in this plan. It will also contribute to achieving the Government’s 25 Year Environment
Plan “A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment”.
In January 2022 the Biosphere Foundation was awarded £1.35m from the Community
Renewal fund to take forward a mixed programme of economic and environmental
development activity, seeking to build upon opportunities across Northern Devon’s unique
marine and rural environment to generate sustainable jobs, industries and investment.
Blue Biosphere projects focus on marine jobs:
•

•

•

•

•
•

Appledore – Marine Economy Gateway. Advanced feasibility study to establish
Appledore’s derelict Middle Dock as a site for the emerging offshore renewable
sector, providing supply chain and skills development opportunities.
Blue Carbon. Investment in the blue carbon economy (CO2 removed from the
atmosphere by oceans) through seagrass, saltmarsh and kelp forests habitat projects,
building evidence to extend to other coastal areas.
Ocean Farming. Testing aquaculture models which have been proved elsewhere to
create multiple food crops and developing a rich marine ecosystem which could be
adopted nationally
“No-Take & Harvest”. Pilot a natural capital model to stimulate commercial stock
recovery through ‘No-Take Zones’, which prohibits fishing, allows stocks to recover
and spread into the surrounding waters for harvesting.
Marine Supply Chain strategy to maximise local economic impact and ‘levelled up’ in
line with the SW Marine Plan.
Smart Biosphere Pilot. Establish system to measure, report and verify the outcomes
of rural biosphere projects. Expanded project building following UK Governmentfunded initiative across 20 farms in the Torridge area.

The green biosphere projects focus on our local agriculture:

22

Page 69

•

•

•

•

•

Woodland Enterprise Zone. Investment Case for stimulating a woodland economy
including, for example, building materials, timber processing, biofuels, carbon,
biodiversity, biochar, tourism and apprenticeships, centred on a new 110-hectare
Woodland Hub.
Soil Revenue. A series of pilot projects to increase the value of soil as a marketable
asset and for Devon farmers. The projects would involve a Devon Soil Economic
Analysis, a 25-farm ‘Carbon Farming’ pilot study and investigation of a ‘Good
Producer’ environmental standard to attain better supermarket prices from enhanced
ecological practices.
Digital Natural Capital Marketplace. A method to enable landowners to profit from
new nature-based projects by trading the outcomes via a trusted digital ‘Natural
Capital Store’. One hundred farms to be involved in the project.
Natural Capital Impact Fund. Develop a natural capital impact fund that raises £50m
of private ESG (environmental, social and governance) funding for nature-based
projects.
Natural Capital Skills, Wellbeing & Community Engagement. Across all programmes
the aim is to maximise local access to these emerging job opportunities. Includes
skills mapping analysis, four escalator models, integrated health service projects
with those furthest from work, and a community engagement initiative to raise
aspirations.

These are all exciting and vital projects, maximising our unique position and opportunities in
having a globally recognised organisation on our doorstep.
We will continue to work with the Biosphere and will look to align our ambitions and direction
of travel to the maximum benefit of both organisations and more importantly, for our
wonderfully rich and diverse environment.

23

Page 70

Communications
How our staff will help make us a greener authority
In 2018 questions on the environment were included in the annual staff survey for the first
time. We asked all staff to rate TDC on how green it is, and if they didn’t rate it 10 out of 10 –
what actions would they suggest to get top marks. We have repeated this in subsequent staff
surveys.
In 2021 we have seen a slight dip in our ‘green rating’ from previous years:
Year

Average Rating

2018

7.6

2019

6.9

2020

7

2021

6.7

A follow up question was asked – “If you didn’t rate the Council at 10 stars, what actions could
we take to bring it up to 10?” The responses have been sorted into the following themes.

Fig 9 staff survey breakdown

24

Page 71

Detailed comments on all of these matters have been presented to the Member Climate
Emergency Working Group, and we are looking to implement some of these suggestions and
feedback to staff. TDC commit to maintaining this feedback process in future staff surveys and
to improve our score. We will continue to seek the feedback and suggestions in this way as
we recognise that staff are central to generating ideas and putting these measures into
practice.

Supporting our Members in the journey to net zero
Our elected members are at the heart of all strategic, policy and financial decision making of
the Council. Over the coming year we are looking to better equip our Members with
understanding on emerging national issues that may affect our local environment and
communities so that they are fully able to lead and participate in developing actions in
response to those issues. We have already put in place the governance structures needed to
ensure democratic involvement in all aspects of our established carbon and biodiversity plan.
We will develop ongoing communication routes to ensure that our decision makers are
engaged and prepared to be fully involved in this agenda. We will also put plans in place to
support any new Members to the authority following the elections in May 2023.

Outward Facing Communications
We recognise that we will need to develop a communications plan for a variety of reasons –
from supporting our local communities and businesses with information and guidance to assist
on their sustainability journeys, to celebrating our achievements and leading by example.
Our communication objectives will be to:
•

•
•

•
•
•

Influence behaviour and increase awareness about how residents and businesses can
contribute to reducing energy use and CO2 emissions through providing information and
support, including carbon footprint calculators and personal action plans.
Increase the uptake of renewable / low carbon energy technologies across the district.
Provide information and signposting to improve homes, businesses and community
buildings to reduce their emissions and make them more comfortable places in which to
live and work.
Enhance the green economy by promoting sustainable business and green opportunities.
To promote the valuable work and successes of our partners on this journey to net zero.
Promote the progress and successes of the Climate Change Strategy.

We will maximise the use of our social media presence to enhance these messages. In 2022
we will be launching an updated web resource to provide up to date information on a range of
climate and biodiversity matters.

25

Page 72

Risk Management
It is acknowledged that a demanding target has been set for our organisation and there are
factors that could negatively impact on our journey to net-zero. The risk of failing to meet this
target, as well as the potential financial implications of progressing this agenda, has been
acknowledged in our Corporate Risk Register and will be monitored through the management
process in place to oversee these risks.
Some of the key risks noted with the delivery of this plan are as follows:
Resources unavailable or not secured to achieve actions identified. This includes failure
to secure external funding to support carbon reduction measures on major capital projects
such as a retrofit programme, but also securing funding for identified measures through our
own budget setting process. It is acknowledged that financial savings from the implementation
of carbon reduction measures are finite; there comes a point where carbon and biodiversity
improvements come at a financial cost. The financial constraints on Local Authorities mean
that Members are faced with increasingly difficult decisions when it comes to budget
allocations and in the face of this, carbon reduction or biodiversity enhancement may not be
prioritised.
Reputational risk to authority for not pursuing or meeting carbon reduction targets. In
light of the above, it is likely that decisions made by the Council will receive heightened
scrutiny, especially if those decisions are seen to negatively impact on our stated climate and
biodiversity ambitions.
Loss or lack of resource necessary to maintain and develop the carbon reduction
programme. Dedicated resource has been allocated to this programme but this is shared with
a neighbouring authority and is not yet secured on a permanent basis. While we are seeking
to embed this within the wider organisation through the management team, it is the nature of
a small organisation that this is seen as an ‘add-on’ and is competing with, rather than
complementing, other organisational requirements and pressures. There is a risk of failure to
understand the scale of resources needed (human and financial) to deliver this programme.
Lack of buy-in reduces participation in relevant carbon reduction projects. This applies
as much to staff as it does to Members. Again, this may be due to wider competing pressures
but lack of acknowledgement of the climate and biodiversity emergency, or our ability to affect
meaningful positive change, may also play a part. There is an element of cultural change that
will be necessary which may be resisted in some quarters.
Potential for an increase in carbon demand due to wider pressures and projects
impacting on our ability to meet the carbon reduction target. This includes the purchase
of hostel accommodation to meet our statutory homeless duties, the development of our
recycling service necessitating the additional purchase of vehicles. It also must cover the
carbon impacts of legacy estate – buildings which are difficult or costly to retrofit but have
value to the Authority for wider reasons.
Wider legislative landscape. Forthcoming legislative changes are likely to enhance
opportunities for investment and improved market availability and viability. If this is delayed or
shelved, this may impact on our abilities to deliver effective change within the timescales set.
Downgrading of carbon and biodiversity management as a corporate priority. There is
a risk that the priority assigned to this agenda in the future may be reduced, either due to
competing pressures, or change in political will either at local or national level.
26

Page 73

Mandating of changes at national level. This is a constantly moving agenda that is playing
out both nationally and globally. There is the possibility that actions and changes will be
dictated by Government, the meeting of which may detract from this central programme. While
such a mandate will be made to meet centrally set priorities and targets, it may mean that we
lose the ability to direct and focus on our own priorities.

The above is an outline of the pressures faced in delivering this programme. Future plans will
expand on this and include the mitigation measures that have been put in place or are planned
to address these issues, and this will be integrated into the action plan moving forward.

27

Page 74

Coastal Change Management Technical Evidence Maps

28

Page 75

29

Page 76

30

Page 77

31

Page 78

Our Priorities and Plans
By declaring a Climate Emergency, we have made a clear commitment and have set a target
to reduce our carbon emissions from the estate and operations of TDC. We recognise however
that we need to go further than this – as a Local Authority we can direct, influence, lever and
support our businesses, households and communities in moving to a sustainable future. So,
our plan going forward is wider than just Council operations – we want to be at the heart of
this transition for all in Torridge. The following action plan captures the measures that are
underway or are planned to reach these goals. While we are already progressing a significant
number of the activities given, we recognise that some of these are key to this plan and shall
be pursued as a priority having consideration of the results of our carbon audit.
Since our Climate Emergency declaration, we have integrated our commitment to our carbon
neutrality vision by putting the Climate at the heart of our Strategic Plan. This is the core vision
that informs the business plans that will be developed across all of our services. Our Council
is already changing to meet the challenges ahead. We have put in place the means to measure
our carbon usage over a range of our services and estate and committed to collate and report
on this on an annual basis going forward. This will be the basis of the focus, development and
prioritisation of our action plan going forward, creating a roadmap to carbon neutrality for
Torridge District Council by 2030.

32

Page 79

Action Plan 2022
Energy

Page 80

Commitment

2022 Update

CO2 Potential
Saving for
TDC
High

Project
RAG
Status
Green

Lead
Department(s)

Due for
Completion

1.0 We will carry out a review of
our energy consumption across
our estate, develop an options
appraisal plan for our sites, and
where necessary put in place
carbon targets and seek funding
to implement improvements. This
will include options for retrofit,
smart energy controls and energy
generation opportunities.

An external company has been
commissioned to carry out the
survey works and this work is
ongoing. This work is being
carried out in conjunction with the
asset plan review and outcome of
the carbon footprint assessment
which reported in 2021.

Property/
Regulatory

Completion of
surveys and
options reporting
22/23

1.1 We will review our energy
tariff
and
investigate
the
feasibility of moving to a
renewable energy supplier for all
of our energy needs.

TDC procures its energy supplier
in conjunction with the other
Devon Districts/ County in order
to secure collective value for
money. The current contract
expires September 2024
therefore this will be progressed,
in collaboration with the regional
group, in preparation for contract

Low

Green

Procurement

September 2024

1.2 We will promote the use of Property have been exploring the
renewable energy tariffs with our adoption of ‘green leases’ which
tenants across our estate.
would promote this. Due to
staffing issues in that

Low

Amber

Property

No date specified
at present.

Progress of
actions
dependent on
subsequent
funding.

28

Department, current progress
cannot be determined.

Transport

Page 81

Commitment

2022 Update

2.0 We will continually improve
the efficiency of our vehicles
across our fleet ensuring that our
vehicle purchases meet the
highest EURO engine emissions
standards, and that these are
maintained to a high standard.
We will regularly review refuse
fleet
routes
to
maximise
efficiency. At the purchase of any
council vehicle we will review
options for electric and ultra-low
emission vehicles. This includes
harbour vehicles and vessels.

This area continues to be a focus
given the potential carbon
savings involved. Viable options
remain limited. In early 2022 we
trialled an electric waste
collection vehicle. While feedback
from the operators was positive,
its speed, range, ability to tackle
hills – and cost - means that this
is not currently an option. The
use of light fleet EV’s also remain
out of reach at the current time,
primarily due to cost, however
technology and costs are
improving all the time and we will
keep this under review. Current
plans around the new
environment centre include
significant EV charging provision
in preparation.

CO2 Potential
Saving for
TDC
High

Harbour vessels yet to be
reviewed.

29

Project
RAG
Status
Amber

Lead
Department(s)

Due for
Completion

Waste/ harbour

Target date to be
determined but
likely to be a
long-term
aspiration

Page 82

2.1 We will explore, implement
and promote electric vehicle
charging
infrastructure,
particularly utilising partnership
working and external funding to
develop
schemes
across
Torridge for the benefit of our
residents and businesses and
supporting
our
sustainable
tourism ambitions. This will
include
exploring
energy
generation
and
storage
opportunities in our car parking
facilities.

Use of EV charging points in our
carparks is currently still at a low
level. However, national roll out
of EV charging infrastructure has
been announced and we will look
to take advantage of funding
available to improve provision
across the district.

Medium if
supporting
our own fleet/
grey fleet.

Amber

Car Parks

Target date to be
determined but
likely to be a
medium-term
aspiration
incorporating
opportunities
arising from the
national
infrastructure roll
out

2.2 We will identify and develop
active travel options across
Torridge to create a safer
environment for pedestrians,
cyclists and horse riders. This
includes identifying rural cycle
routes and electric cycle charge
points in line with central
Government recommendations.
This will be progressed in
partnership with a range of
stakeholders including Devon
County Council.

Torridge Active Travel Group
continue to meet regularly.

Low

Green

Member Lead

No date specified
at present.

2.3 We will carry out a review of
our Taxi Licensing Policy and will
use this as a basis to encourage
our taxi operators to move to
electric and ultra-low vehicles,
including exploring the provision

Revised taxi policy has been
prepared, consulted on and
finalised, with input from the
Member Climate Working Group
and a number of amendments/
incentives for electric and low

Low

Amber

Regulatory

Policy will be
reviewed again in
2024

We are developing a Local Cycle
& Walking Infrastructure Plan
with partners which will help us
provide better routes.
Currently carrying out a demand
survey in conjunction with Co
Cars on electric car/ bike rental
which will report shortly

30

of dedicated taxi charging emission vehicles have been
point(s) to support the trade.
included (details here). This was
formally adopted in May 22
2.4 We will investigate the use of Currently reviewing viability and
alternative, low carbon fuels for
sustainability of HVO.
our vehicles.

High

Green

Regulatory

September 2022

CO2 Potential
Saving for
TDC
Medium
insofar as to
potentially
increase
opportunities
for our own
estate such
as onshore
wind
generation

Project
RAG
Status
Green

Lead
Department(s)

Due for
Completion

Planning

December 2025

Planning
Commitment

2022 Update

Page 83

3.0 We will use the review of the Project and Place Review
local
plan
to
embrace underway (more details here)
opportunities to deliver carbon
reductions and improvements in
sustainability and biodiversity
making use of guidance, expert
evidence and best practice to
best deliver on a range of
environmental matters. We will
use best endeavours to maximise
the
potential
of
new
developments to be highly
efficient and incorporate low
carbon heating solutions and
support sustainable travel for
future residents, customers and
visitors. Through the plan review
we will revisit and consider the
opportunities to support on and
offshore
wind
energy
development.

31

3.1 We will seek to take forward
the relevant principles and
actions of the Devon County
Council’s Carbon Plan through
the review of the local plan to
ensure joined up direction of
travel to meet our mutual carbon,
environmental and biodiversity
aims and targets.

Devon’s Carbon Plan due to be
finalised before the end of 2022.
Once approved, this will be
considered as part of the review
given in 3.0 and incorporated
through as appropriate through
that process.

Medium as
above.

Green

Planning

Devon Carbon
Plan by
December 2022.
Project and Place
review December
2025.

Page 84

3.2 We will seek to take forward As 3.0 above
and build upon our pioneering
work that seeks biodiversity net
gain from development through
the local plan review.

Low

Green

Planning

December 2025

3.3 We will seek to engage with We are actively engaged in
wider partners to develop local developing this approach with the
biodiversity off setting schemes North Devon Biosphere.
to provide choice and assurance
to developers obligated through
the planning process within
Torridge.

Low

Green

Planning

Ongoing

3.4 We will lobby Government for
improved building regulations for
energy efficiency and making
renewable
energy
sources
compulsory for new builds.

Low

Green

Member Lead

No date set

Medium
insofar as
supporting

Green

Member Lead

No date set

At time of writing, Government
intend to review the National
Planning Policy Framework and
its role/ contribution to climate
change mitigation and
adaptation. This will be further
considered following that review

3.5 We will lobby Government The government intends to
and local providers for improved deliver nationwide gigabitdigital connectivity to order to capable broadband as soon as

32

possible, and aims for the
majority of the population to have
5G coverage by 2027. As
progress in this area becomes
clearer this will be kept under
review.

TDC’s own
operations
and flexibility

Commitment

2022 Update

Due for
Completion

Not progressed. Partly dependent
on both the ongoing asset plan
review as well as the
development of TDC’s new
grounds maintenance service.
Timescales for this will be
considered in 2023.

Project
RAG
Status
Green

Lead
Department(s)

4.0 We recognise the benefits of
carbon sequestration and the
value of tree planting to future
offsetting needs, and so we will
continue to develop our tree
planting programme on land
owned by the Council and will
look to take full advantage of
funding and schemes available
to support this plan.

CO2 Potential
Saving for
TDC
Low (though
with offsetting
potential)

Grounds
Maintenance

Target date to be
determined but
likely to be a
medium-term
aspiration

4.1 We will develop a Tree
Strategy which will acknowledge
the value of our Green
Infrastructure including our
approach to the management
and protection of trees across
Torridge, promote sustainability
thought the ‘right tree right place’
ethos, promote partnership
working and lead by example
with our communities.

As given in 4.0 above.

Low (though
with
offsetting
potential)

Green

Grounds
Maintenance

Target date to be
determined but
likely to be a
medium-term
aspiration

promote further flexible and
remote
working
patterns,
enhancing access to services,
supporting
our
isolated
communities and reducing the
need to travel.

Biodiversity

Page 85

33

Page 86

4.2 We will integrate our climate
and biodiversity ambitions with
our ground’s maintenance
operations/ contract, developing
sustainable options that can be
implemented and maintained as
part of this programme including
developing ‘rewilded’ areas
across our Torridge estate.

Timescales will be considered in
2023 once the new service has
bedded in.

Low

Green

Grounds
Maintenance

Target date to be
determined but
likely to be a
medium-term
aspiration

4.3 We will support the Smart
Biosphere to build a data-driven
response to climate challenges.
Working in partnership with the
North Devon UNESCO
Biosphere Reserve, North Devon
Council and other key
stakeholders such as the
Environment Agency we will
develop a network of sensors to
measure and then respond to a
range of sectoral needs.

A test project being run in the
Combe Martin area that will help
the tourism industry, farmers, the
Environment Agency and South
West Water to reduce pollution
and flooding problems so that the
beaches can meet bathing water
standards and the impacts of
floods can be reduced. This
project will be further developed
when that pilot reports.

Low

Green

Eco Dev

No date set

4.4 We will support the
Environmental Land
Management (ELM) trials and
projects to ensure that
biodiversity is at the heart of
post-EU Transition agriculture
and that the countryside of
Torridge is alive with biodiversity.

Ongoing

Low

Green

Planning

No date set

4.5 We will work in partnership
with the North Devon UNESCO
Biosphere Reserve to ensure

TDC signed up to deliver the
Biosphere’s Nature Recovery
Plan in summer 2021. The

Low

Green

Estates

No date set

34

Page 87

that actions stemming from the
innovative work of the Marine
and Landscape Pioneers can be
enacted to enhance biodiversity.

Marine and Landscape pioneers
feed into this process.

4.6 We will work with the North
Devon
UNESCO
Biosphere
Reserve and North Devon
Council to develop a Natural
Capital Investment Fund to
support
the
financing
of
innovative projects which create
jobs and enhance both the
biodiversity and green future of
Torridge and northern Devon.

Funding towards this project has
been provided (approved report).
Scheme launched April 22. This
gives businesses the opportunity
to invest in the Biosphere's
projects in return for carbon
credits to help them cut their
carbon footprint.

Low

Complete

Eco Dev

Complete

Commitment

2022 Update

Due for
Completion

Burrows Centre completed and
included in our carbon foot
printing going forward. Includes a
number of sustainable building
materials and systems to reduce
impacts.

Project
RAG
Status
Green

Lead
Department(s)

5.0 We will seek to ‘build green’ in
our developments such as the
Burrows Centre, and look to
maximise
sustainability
and
energy generation opportunities
in the development of TDC’s new
Environment Centre, including
future proofing the site for an
expanding electric vehicle fleet.

CO2 Potential
Saving for
TDC
High

Projects

Ongoing

Waste/ Recycling

Environment Centre project/
specification currently being
finalised, and has involved input
from external consultants on a
range of sustainable measures.

35

Page 88

5.1 We will fully participate in the
review of the Resource and
Waste Strategy for Devon and
Torbay, and actively promote its
aims to minimise the waste we
create, to reduce the impact of
resource and waste management
on climate change by tailoring
operations to reduce the waste
carbon footprint, and to seek to
preserve natural capital and
practice resource efficiency.

TDC are involved and had
previously reported to our
members on the development of
this strategy (here). To seek
update from the Waste team to
feed into this plan.

Low

Amber

Waste

Target date to be
determined but
likely to be a
medium-term
aspiration

5.2 We will promote and support
the development of the circular
economy and waste hierarchy
and will review and be open to all
options available to reduce the
carbon footprint of our waste
collection activities which may
include, but is not limited to,
maximising
recycling
and
developing new waste recycling
opportunities, promoting the
waste hierarchy through review of
the residual waste collection
programme and exploring options
to promote reuse and repair.

The Environment Act will help the
transition to a more circular
economy, incentivising people to
recycle more, encouraging
businesses to create sustainable
packaging, making household
recycling easier and stopping the
export of polluting plastic waste
to developing countries.

Low

Green

Waste

No date set

36

The Council
Commitment

2022 Update

Page 89

6.0 We will carry out an annual 2021 reported, and this the 2022
review of our carbon plan and will update.
be
transparent
about
our
direction of travel, achievements
and challenges in meeting our
stated ambitions. This will be
reported on annually to Full
Council and is part of our wider
commitment to making our
climate
and
biodiversity
ambitions
central
to
the
governance and operations of the
Council.
6.1 We will develop and approve
a sustainable procurement policy
to incorporate sustainability, the
environment and corporate social
responsibility into our financial
procedures. We will guide and
support smaller businesses who
work with us to meet these
ambitions. We will regularly
review
our
sustainable
procurement policy application
and weighting to further develop
this approach to maintain
continual
improvement
and
encouragement of the most

Project yet to start due to
expected update to the national
procurement framework, likely
not to receive Royal assent until
summer 2023.

CO2 Potential
Saving for
TDC
Low but this is
the basis of
our
understanding
of progress
against our
stated carbon
target.

Project
RAG
Status
Green

Lead
Department(s)

Due for
Completion

Regulatory

Annually

Low due to
our carbon
accounting
process
currently used
– Donna can
you explain??

Green

Procurement/
Regulatory

Possibly 2024
following review
of legislation and
lead in time.

37

sustainable
Council.

suppliers

to

the

Page 90

6.2 We will integrate carbon, Revised PID process approved
environmental and biodiversity September 2021 incorporating
ambitions into all our capital these factors
projects and ensure that stated
standards and targets in these
areas are included into those
projects.

High

Completed Finance

Completed

6.3 We will support sustainable
Being progressed.
travel by staff and customers at
our main Council sites through
the provision of bike racks and
facilities for staff as well as the
promotion of the Government’s
Cycle to Work Scheme.
6.4 We will carry out a full audit of 2021 reported, and the 2022
the Council’s carbon footprint to update underway.
current Government guidance,
ensuring parity of scope with
North Devon Council to provide
future
opportunities
for
comparing performance and best
practice, in order to drive change
and improvements across both
Authorities.

Medium

Amber

Regulatory/ HR

By 2023

Low but this is Green
the basis of
our
understanding
of progress
against our
stated carbon
target.

Regulatory

Annually

6.5 We will review consumables
purchased and used by the
Authority and will seek to move to
environmentally positive options.
This will include areas such as

Low

Procurement

Target date to be
determined but
likely to be a
medium-term
aspiration

No reported progress as yet
Supply issues have meant we are
unable to procure electric
grounds maintenance equipment
at service set up.

38

Amber

cleaning materials, stationary
usage, tools and machinery.

Page 91

6.6 We will support staff and
members to reduce their carbon
footprints by facilitating home and
mobile working technology and
working practices and promoting
sustainable transport options
such as mileage reduction
methods,
developing
or
promoting the use of electric and
ultra-low emission vehicles for
business
purposes
and
encouraging cycling, walking, car
sharing and public transport.
6.7 We will review our treasury
management
policy
and
resources to determine feasibility
of divestment and TDC including
and
developing
ethical
investment vehicles within its
portfolio.

Under review as we determine
business need and delivery
models in this post covid world

Medium

Amber

Corporate

No date set

The use of ethical investments in
our own portfolio have been
reviewed (here) and the matter
taken forward into our latest
Treasury Management Strategy.

Low

Green

Finance

Treasury
Management
Strategy reviewed
on an annual
basis.

6.8 We will develop and maintain
a communications plan
integrated with all departments
across the Council to showcase
the work of the Authority in
leading the response to the
climate and biodiversity
emergencies. This will include a

Updated webpage under
development.

Low

Green

Comms

Summer 2022

Pensions fall to DCC, and their
commitment to a net zero
portfolio is given here .

No date set
No progress to date on other
matters

39

community facing webpage of
information, support and
resources, as well as a staff and
Member facing information
source to internally promote our
plans and achievements
6.9 We will encourage staff
participation in our carbon
ambitions by including ‘green’
idea generation through regular
staff surveys and the corporate
appraisal process.

‘Green’ questions now a standing
part of our annual staff survey –
reporting to our Member Climate
Working Group.

Low

Green

HR

Ongoing
commitment to
our staff survey

Page 92

Currently the appraisal system
does not support the inclusion of
these matters but we will keep
this under review.

Under review

A staff climate training
programme is being developed –
to be rolled out in 2022

Staff training
programme to be
delivered by end
of 2022.

6.10
We
will
integrate Complete – see carbon plan for
consideration of the impacts of more details.
climate
change
into
our
committee
decision
making
process and ensure that reviews
of internal policies will align with
our climate emergency and
biodiversity priorities.

High

Completed Corporate

Completed

6.11 We will support members on
their role in championing,
influencing and implementing
positive climate change and
biodiversity measures within TDC

High

Ongoing

Ongoing

The Member Climate Working
Group is now a constituted group
providing strategic input and
oversight into a range of areas
and reporting their

Regulatory/
Member Services

Member training
programme to be

40

and the wider communities they recommendations to C&R
represent.
Committee.

delivered by end
of 2022.

Expert speakers on a range of
environmental matters report to
various committees.

6.12 We will seek to improve the
quality and extent of the data in
our carbon footprint, particularly
for Scope 3 emissions.

A member training programme is
being developed – to be rolled
out in 2022
Ongoing improvement in data
quality and inputs.

Page 93

6.13 We will develop an
offsetting strategy.

Low

Green

Regulatory

Ongoing

Medium

Green

Regulatory

2023

CO2 Potential
Saving for
TDC
Low

Project
RAG
Status
Green

Lead
Department(s)

Due for
Completion

Regulatory

Ongoing

Low

Green

Regulatory

Ongoing

Our Communities
Commitment

2022 Update

7.0 We will support communities
in adapting to climate change,
sustainability
and
carbon
reduction in community and
emergency plans.

Working with Devon Community
Resilience Forum. Event held for
Torridge Parishes and continuing
to promote resources and
support available through that
group.
With 361 Energy we held training
events for Town and Parish
Councils in November 2021 to
help them develop actions for net
zero carbon delivery.

7.1 We will support our towns,
parishes and communities with
information and support on
carbon cutting and biodiversity
enhancing projects, funding and
opportunities. We will promote

41

the
development
of
local
schemes around tree planting,
allotments, community gardens
and orchard provision.

With Carbon Savvy we trialled a
personal carbon calculator for
residents and advice on a
number of low carbon themes.
The call for community Jubilee
Tree planting promoted

Page 94

7.2 We will support households
experiencing fuel poverty by
working with partners to promote
and implement energy efficiency
measures through the adoption of
a fuel poverty strategy. This will
develop a multi-agency approach
to tackling fuel poverty in the
district from maximising leverage
of existing options to creating
enhanced services to residents
on energy efficiency/ money
management advice and retrofit
options.

Key partner in the Fuel Poverty
group for Northern Devon,
strategy under development.

Low

Green

Regulatory

Ongoing

Low

Amber

Regulatory

No date set

There are a range of schemes
under this heading: LAD2,
Sustainable Warmth Programme
(LAD3), HUG which will be
brought together under the above
strategy.
For 2022 focus is around the
implementation of ECO4 which
we will be developing in
conjunction with ND, including
consideration of use of Ecoflex
top ups from the BCF.
Promotion of Lendology schemes
and capital transfer from the BCF
in 2022 to support wider
schemes.

7.3 We will publicise statutory No specific projects as yet given
Minimum
Energy
Efficiency current resources however

42

(MEES)
requirements
to enforcement work is part of BAU
Landlords, support them in for the Housing Renewal Team.
meeting their obligations and
align our Housing Enforcement
Policy to ensure targeted and
effective enforcement of these
standards in our private rented
sector.
7.4 We will develop guidance for
supporting
and
promoting
sustainable
events
through
licensing function and Torridge’s
Safety Advisory Group.

Page 95

7.5 We will seek opportunities for
developing
a
low
carbon
economy, promotion of green
entrepreneurship
and
investment. We will provide
businesses with information and
support on energy generation,
improving energy efficiency and
reducing their own carbon
footprint. We will support Torridge
employers, communities and
organisations in declaring their
own Climate and Biodiversity
Emergencies and developing
action plans. We will work with
Petroc and support local schools
to maximise opportunities for the

Draft guide agreed through
CCWG in early 22, currently with
ND for ratification after which
document will be branded and
launched.
No issues promoting through
licensing and the SAG.
We are also partners in a Green
Economy Group for northern
Devon which will provide advice
an support for businesses
interested in sustainability and
regeneration.

Low

Green

Regulatory

Summer 2022

Low

Green

Evo Dev

No date set.

43

next generation in our new green
future.
7.6 We will promote shopping This is being progressed by the
local, promoting farmers markets, Devon Food Partnership.
direct fish sales and local green
start-ups and develop the local
green economy and economic
generation
by
pursuing
opportunities,
funding
and
seeking cooperation to take full
advantage of opportunities.

Low

Page 96
44

Green

Eco Dev

Ongoing

